

Nova Southeastern University NSUWorks

Theses and Dissertations

Abraham S. Fischler College of Education

2023

Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: Lived Experiences of Adults Diagnosed With ADHD

Carole Larson Yokell

Follow this and additional works at: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/fse_etd



Part of the Accessibility Commons

All rights reserved. This publication is intended for use solely by faculty, students, and staff of Nova Southeastern University. No part of this publication may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, now known or later developed, including but not limited to photocopying, recording, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of the author or the publisher.

This Dissertation is brought to you by the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks. For more information, please contact nsuworks@nova.edu.

Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: Lived Experiences of Adults Diagnosed With ADHD

by Carole Yokell

An Applied Dissertation Submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Education

Approval Page

This applied dissertation was submitted by Carole Yokell under the direction of the persons listed below. It was submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education at Nova Southeastern University.

Hardwick Smith Johnson, Jr., EdD Committee Chair

Sherry Burke, EdD Committee Member

Kimberly Durham, PsyD Dean

Statement of Original Work

I declare the following:

I have read the Code of Student and Academic Responsibility as described in the *Student Handbook* of Nova Southeastern University. This applied dissertation represents my original work, except where I have acknowledged the ideas, words, or material of other authors.

Where another author's ideas have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's ideas by citing them in the required style.

Where another author's words have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's words by using appropriate quotation devices and citations in the required style.

I have obtained permission from the author or publisher—in accordance with the required guidelines—to include any copyrighted material (e.g., tables, figures, survey instruments, large portions of text) in this applied dissertation manuscript.

Carole Yokell Name

February 17, 2023 Date

Acknowledgments

This dissertation is dedicated to my dearly departed father, Fred Seewer. You were my rock growing up and instilled the drive to work hard for what I wanted out of life, even if I took the long road to success. I know you are celebrating with me from Heaven.

I would like to acknowledge my husband, Max, and children, Emmy, Ian, and Noah, for all the family time that I sacrificed during my educational journey. I would not be where I am without your love, patience, and understanding. To the Seewer siblings, John, Christie, Lana, and Chad, thank you for your unconditional love and support. I could not ask for better brothers and sisters! And to my stepmom, Mary, who encouraged me to "just get it done." To my cousins, Missy and Stephanie, thank you for putting up with my monopolizing your kitchen tables with papers, books, and computers during all of our visits. And, to my Aunt Dodi, you truly are my favorite aunt and you inspired me to get consistent with my goals.

I greatly appreciate my most awesome dissertation chair, Dr. Hardwick Smith Johnson, Jr., whose support and feedback were paramount to finishing my dissertation after being ABD for 3 years. I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to the individuals who participated in my research study by sharing their experiences. Contributing such sensitive and personal information is a great sacrifice and will give others a better understanding of ADHD. I would also like to thank Rachel James from CHADD (Children & Adults with ADHD) for her time and effort in helping me expedite my site approval process.

And last, but, certainly not least, a shout-out to my classmates, Dr. Jennifer

Campbell, and Dr. Kevin Wernham (and his lovely wife, Jessica), for their never-ending cheering and refusing to leave me behind!

Abstract

Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: Lived Experiences of Adults Diagnosed With ADHD. Carole Yokell, 2023: Applied Dissertation, Nova Southeastern University, Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice. Keywords: attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, ADHD, adult ADHD

The problem addressed in the research was that many individuals were not diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) until they were adults. The purpose of the study was to examine the experiences and beliefs of participants regarding the management of ADHD and the impact that experiences may or may not have regarding the quality of life during adulthood.

This study utilized a phenomenological qualitative approach to collect data from adults diagnosed with ADHD about their life experiences. Data were gathered with virtual conference interviews and phone calls using an interview protocol that the researcher developed. Qualitative methods were utilized to analyze the data to answer the research questions.

Research Question 1 asked about differences in the quality of life between those diagnosed with ADHD in childhood and those diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood. Adults diagnosed with ADHD in childhood struggled with procrastination, disorganization, and forgetfulness in schools. Adults diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood experienced distractibility problems when performing monotonous tasks. Research Question 2 asked about the type of childhood experiences that affected the outcomes of how adults treated ADHD. Findings showed adolescents with ADHD who were best friends in childhood sought adults with ADHD for friendships when they became adults. Parents who worked all the time contributed to responders with ADHD being lonely and introverts as adults. Research Question 3 inquired about how childhood experiences, stemming from ADHD, affected life choices in adults. Results indicated supportive mothers of responders with ADHD helped the responders achieve positive life choices. Research Question 4 inquired concerning factors that determined how adults managed ADHD. Results conveyed early diagnosis of ADHD and conversations with others who experienced ADHD helped with the management of ADHD. Books may be read on the topic and Internet searches conducted to locate symptoms and treatments.

Table of Contents

| | Page |
|--|------|
| Chapter 1: Introduction | |
| Statement of the Problem | |
| Background and Justification | |
| Purpose of the Study | 4 |
| Setting of the Study | 5 |
| Researcher's Role | 5 |
| Definitions of Terms | 6 |
| Chapter 2: Literature Review | 8 |
| COVID-19 and ADHD | |
| Historical Background of ADHD | 11 |
| Causes of ADHD | 13 |
| Symptoms of ADHD | |
| ADHD in Children | |
| ADHD in Adults | 16 |
| Diagnosis | 19 |
| Controversy in Treatment | |
| Adverse Effects of Diagnosis | |
| Positive ADHD Traits | 35 |
| Chapter 3: Methodology | 37 |
| Aim of the Study | |
| Qualitative Research Approach | |
| Participants | |
| Instrument | 38 |
| Procedures | |
| Data Analysis | 40 |
| Ethical Considerations | |
| Trustworthiness | 41 |
| Chapter 4: Findings | 42 |
| Introduction | |
| Participants | |
| Data Analysis for Interview Questions | |
| Chapter 5: Discussion | 65 |
| Introduction | |
| Critique and Interpretation of Findings | |
| Meaning, Understanding, Relevancy, and Significance | |
| Implications | |
| Recommendations for Change and Future Research Inquiry | |
| Limitations | |

| | Co | nclusions and Reflections | 31 |
|---------|------|---|----|
| Referen | nces | S | 33 |
| Append | lice | es · | |
| | A | Research Protocol1 | 13 |
| | В | Recruitment Flyer | 16 |
| Tables | | | |
| | 1 | Common Stimulants for Treating ADHD | 24 |
| | | Research Questions and Alignment With Interview Questions | |
| | 3 | Age at Time of Diagnosis With ADHD (N = 15) | |
| | 4 | Quality of Life for Adults Diagnosed With ADHD in Childhood (N=7) | 46 |
| | 5 | Quality of Life for Adults Diagnosed With ADHD in Adulthood (N=8) | 50 |
| | 6 | Childhood Experiences Contribution to How These Adults Treat ADHD | |
| | | (N=15) | 55 |
| | 7 | Childhood ADHD Experiences Influence on Adults' Life Choices (N=15) | 59 |
| | 8 | Factors Determining How Adults Manage ADHD (N=15) | 62 |

Chapter 1: Introduction

One of the most common childhood neurological disorders in the United States is attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2019). The diagnosis of ADHD was given to 9.4% of children between the ages of and 2 and 17 in the United States (CDC, 2019). Half of these individuals experienced symptoms from ADHD into adulthood. Many adults who experienced symptoms of ADHD progressed through their childhood, adolescence, and young adulthood without being accurately diagnosed (CHADD.org, 2017).

The rate of ADHD in adults was rising substantially; 17%–22% of adults sought treatment for comorbidities with an outcome of being diagnosed with ADHD (Prakash, et al., 2021). More recent studies showed an increased range of 50% to 85% of childhood cases of ADHD carrying over into adulthood (Roselló et al., 2020). Some of these studies relied on participants' self-reporting and included only medically diagnosed cases of ADHD, therefore, presenting limitations. Another limitation was that as those who have been diagnosed with ADHD as a child get older, their symptoms may present themselves differently than when they were a child. Adult ADHD usually was characterized by the inattentive symptoms with fewer incidences of hyperactivity (Vitola et al., 2017). For example, hyperactive behavior may decrease as the individual gets older, but the inattentive trait remains.

It was common for individuals to go through life without receiving a formal diagnosis of ADHD, causing several personal, social, and professional challenges; this was especially true for females (Lynch & Davison, 2022). A vast majority of the literature showed that there were more cases of males being diagnosed with ADHD

because the symptoms were more prevalent in boys; therefore, males received more attention that generated a visit to the doctor for screening (Slobodin & Davidovitch, 2019).

In addition, symptoms presented could lead to being misdiagnosed with another disorder (Mowlem et al., 2019). Because it was common for individuals with ADHD to have comorbidities such as anxiety disorder, depressive disorders, and bipolar disorder, the ADHD symptoms may often be mistaken for their comorbidities (Brunkhorst-Kanaan, 2020). Therefore, many adults progressed through life with undiagnosed ADHD (Young & Goodman, 2016). Living with untreated ADHD led to daily challenges for these individuals. Misinformation and social stigmas that were attached to a diagnosis of ADHD could prevent individuals who may be experiencing symptoms to seek a diagnosis which may explain the lack of data in the literature regarding treatment protocols for adult ADHD (Bisset et al., 2022).

Statement of the Problem

The problem to be addressed in the research study was that many individuals were not diagnosed with ADHD until they were adults (Jones, 2022). Whether an individual goes through childhood with undiagnosed or diagnosed ADHD, there were many factors that impacted the outcome of how their childhood experiences affect them as adults. Although trauma, abuse, and dysfunctional family life may make a tremendous impact on individuals in adulthood, ADHD may affect how an individual deals with the adversities they may encounter in daily living and major life events. In some cases, children who may receive a formal diagnosis of ADHD were either treated inappropriately or not at all. As a result, these children may live dysfunctional lives as adults (Springstead, 2017). A

component of this may be self-medicating. Whether they learned compensating skills to overcome their impulsive behavior, used pharmacological prescribed medications, or self-medicate, this study sought to understand what individuals did to cope with the most dysfunctional symptoms of this frequently diagnosed malady. Not completely understanding the factors that may be involved in how an individual endures their symptoms of ADHD prevented one from receiving proper treatment for this disorder.

Background and Justification

Although many individuals were diagnosed with ADHD as children and may have access to treatments such as medication and counseling to address the symptoms of ADHD, there was a population of individuals who experience symptoms of ADHD well into adulthood and may or may not have been diagnosed (Fleischmann & Miller, 2013). Some of these individuals experienced hardships due to their undiagnosed ADHD, whereas others developed coping skills on their own and may develop into successful professionals despite their ADHD traits (Canela et al., 2017).

If not addressed appropriately, adult ADHD can manifest into problematic relationships, problems with law enforcement, poor professional performance, and many other debilitating issues associated with the symptoms (Michielsen et al., 2018).

Although signs and symptoms of ADHD were present in early childhood, it may go undiagnosed, misdiagnosed, and/or untreated until adulthood. By this time, either the adult has developed skills to compensate for the disability or the person continues to have challenges with many aspects of life. In some cases, an individual may choose a spouse that possesses traits that were the opposite of ADHD characteristics such as being very grounded and organized (Prakash et al., 2021). Diagnosing ADHD in adults was a

challenge because many individuals' ADHD symptoms may be masked by other symptoms they may have from comorbidities. These conditions may be anxiety, bipolar, or depression (Geffen & Forster, 2018).

Deficiencies in the Evidence

Although there were ample data regarding ADHD in children and adolescents such as research conducted by the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) and National Institute of Health (NIH), there seemed to be a deficiency regarding ADHD in adults (Instanes et al., 2018). Specifically, studies investigating experiences and beliefs of adults with ADHD who were not diagnosed until adulthood were scarce (Chan et al., 2016). The study aimed to address this deficiency.

Audience

The audience for this study were of interest to a range of people including teachers, parents, and adults diagnosed with ADHD. Also included in the audience for this study were families of children and adolescents with ADHD as this information can be helpful in early diagnosis and proper treatment of the condition. The anticipated participants of the study lived in the United States.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of the study was to understand the lived experiences of individuals diagnosed with ADHD during adulthood, as well as in childhood. A comprehensive understanding regarding these experiences may reveal information that may affect their lives. This included adults who had been diagnosed as children but had not been treated for this disorder until adulthood. By understanding these experiences, insight on how symptoms of ADHD, such as hyperactivity, impulsivity, and distractibility, had affected

some individuals negatively while others had been able to deal with challenges successfully (Watters et al., 2018). The intention of this study was to analyze experiences and distinguish factors contributing to better success in managing life as an adult.

Setting of the Study

The setting invited adult members of Chapters of Adults with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (CHADD), Facebook users, and LinkedIn subscribers to participate in the study. LinkedIn is a professional network where adult individuals connect for the purpose of sharing resources and accessing information regarding career opportunities (Adikari & Dutta, 2020). The targeted participants were in the age range of 18 to 65 years old, have a diagnosis of ADHD, and resided across the United States. The researcher conducted virtual conferencing interviews and phone calls for this study.

Researcher's Role

The researcher was a former teacher for students with special needs who was now a self-employed educational consultant. The researcher worked with children, adolescents, and adults diagnosed with ADHD and had seen her students both excel and struggle with academics and social interactions because of this disability. Her role in the study was to identify potential participants for the study, gather and analyze research data, and report the findings in written form. It was the hope of the researcher that the data collected from this study provided useful information for all stakeholders involved with diagnosis, treatment, and support for those with ADHD including those who have ADHD.

Definitions of Terms

Academic performance

For purposes of this study, this refers to the levels of academic achievement (Hellas et al., 2018).

Addiction

Behavior which results in unhealthy dependency, yearning, and uncontrollable behavior regardless of the affected individual's adverse consequences (Maremmani et al., 2018).

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)

Patterns of hyperactivity and inattention that are persistent. The functioning and development of the brain are affected by this disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Belief

A state of mind in which confidence or trust is established and instilled in an abstract or concrete object or a person regardless of the state of existence (Merriam-Webster, n.d.).

Comorbid condition

Conditions that simultaneously occur alongside another illness. Comorbid refers to a disease or condition that occurs simultaneously with another (Sutinen et al., 2022).

Complementary and alternative medicine (CAM)

Nonconventional, therapeutic techniques that may or may not be used alongside conventional medicine (Mitchell & Cormack, 2019).

Dopamine

An organic chemical in the brain that is responsible for sending messages that regulate focus, memory, and mood (Cheyette & Cheyette, 2018).

Executive functioning skills

A group of functions that include self-regulation, deferred gratification, and intentional action (Doebel, 2020). This also may include self-organization/critical thinking skills (Finders et al., 2021).

Fight-or-flight response

A physiological response in which the heart rate and glucose levels increase due to stress. Adrenaline levels increase, which may cause an individual to flee or become aggressive in a situation when they may be threatened (Bayarassou et al., 2020).

Mixed method research

Research using data from both qualitative and quantitative research (Creswell & Creswell, 2017).

Qualitative research

The collection of words and pictures to be analyzed to explore a human problem (Creswell & Creswell, 2017).

Quantitative research

Research conducted by collecting numerical data that has the possibility to be measured in a statistical method (Creswell & Creswell, 2017).

Chapter 2: Literature Review

When treating symptoms of ADHD, social stigma can play a substantial part in not only the attitudes and beliefs, but also the actions taken by those of all ages who were diagnosed with ADHD (Lebowitz, 2016). School age children who were prescribed medication for ADHD must leave the classroom at a designated time of day, every day for their medication to be administered to them by the school nurse (A. Rubin, personal communication, September 1, 2020). Being singled out by having to leave the regular classroom for maintenance medication may cause low self-esteem in children and be carried into adulthood (Kita, 2017). There is a substantial correlation between academic difficulties and ADHD; many individuals with ADHD have a higher occurrence of grade retention which may attribute to low self-esteem (Jangmo, 2022). These self-esteem issues may be carried over into adulthood.

Young adults who have been diagnosed with ADHD may have different adverse experiences than those they may have had when they were younger. In college, medication abuse is commonplace as there is pressure to meet academic deadlines and the desire to increase overall alertness. Depending on whether the student is away from home living in a college dormitory or at home under the supervision of their parents, the pressure of not having parental emotional support and regulation may be a contributing factor to stress (Cropsey et al., 2017).

The Bowen Family Systems Theory (Keller & Noone, 2019) is based on the dynamics of the family regarding the personal development of the child diagnosed with ADHD. According to Bowen, individuals were understood by others more completely when in the setting of a community or a family. Community and family give validity to

individuals as it allows them to be a part of an accepted structure.

Another theory impacting the attitudes and beliefs of the treatment of ADHD is Barkley's (2014) ADHD theory, which suggests that this neurological disorder is the lack of an individual's ability to self-regulate. This assumption also plays a part in which route an individual chooses to treat the disorder of ADHD (Goh et al., 2020).

The many controversial views about using medication had prompted parents and caregivers to either not treat the disorder or to seek out other alternatives (Tatlow-Golden et al., 2016). Researchers have noted that although parents reported better success with medication, they also had incorrect information regarding its use (Pham et al., 2017). According to information reported by teachers and parents, this population knows more about the characteristics of ADHD than about the treatment options and successes (Mohr-Jensen et al., 2019). Other parents and caregivers report that they were less willing to support self-regulation methods such as behavior training than using alternatives (Bussing et al., 2016). Another issue in treating ADHD is that, unlike the younger population, many adolescents do not follow the proper protocol for the prescribed medication (Storebø et al., 2018). To avoid some negative side effects of pharmaceutical medication, complementary and alternative treatments for ADHD have been used to treat ADHD and many report them to be effective (Johnson & Yang, 2020). Parents will sometimes give their children a break from the medication such as on weekends and holidays (Ibrahim & Donyai, 2015). According to Emilsson et al. (2017), untreated ADHD can lead to adverse effects such as low academic achievement, low self-esteem, and even behavior problems; the most favorable outcome for treatment of ADHD is behavior support and some level of medical intervention.

Individuals of all ages diagnosed with ADHD are more susceptible to experiencing a reduced quality of life due to experiences and adverse mental, social, and physical effects of ADHD. A study conducted by Krauss and Schellenberg (2022), revealed that it is imperative that more focus needs to be placed on encouraging approaches to increasing the quality of life in adolescents and young adults. During these years, the individual may be vulnerable due to anxiety, stress, and depression as they get older. ADHD can negatively affect the quality of life for all ages, however most research has been performed in children and adolescents (Sjöwall & Thorell, 2019). Because lifestyle trends are changing in adolescents and young adults, the outcome of the quality of life in adults may vary warranting ongoing research (Lovett & Harrison, 2021).

COVID-19 and ADHD

Recent studies have shown that depression, anxiety, and stress are becoming more prevalent amongst adolescents and young adults (Goodwin et al., 2020; Keyes et al., 2019 as cited in Lovett & Harrison, 2021). Because of this upward rise in symptoms, the effects from the COVID-19 pandemic have worsened these mental health issues. Mental health services that were normally held face-to-face were done by phone, video conferencing, or not at all. With brick-and-mortar school and workplace closures, the routine that is imperative for individuals with ADHD to thrive was interrupted. Attending school and work remotely did not provide the social interaction that all individuals rely upon for real time feedback. The lack of exercise and outdoor time for all ages due to the shutdown of public areas during the COVID-19 pandemic played a part in the detriment of health and wellbeing not just for those with ADHD, but for the typical population as well. In addition, there was the instability of income and the fear of contracting COVID-

19. All these factors played a significant part in contributing to the need to modify mental health guidelines to improve the accommodations for patients with mental health needs (McGrath, 2020).

Historical Background of ADHD

Sir Alexander Crichton cited the first example of ADHD in 1798. In Chapter 2 of his book, "On Attention and its Diseases," Crichton (1798/2011) discussed the realms of healthy attention and its definition and described ADHD as a disorder that presents difficulty maintaining attention, performing tasks, or engaging in play activities. Crichton also stated that the symptoms must be present in an individual before they reach the age of 7 years old before a true diagnosis can be made. These symptoms must also be present in more than one setting.

In 1798 Alexander Crichton publish a book addressing what we now know as ADHD; he referred to it as mental restlessness and his focus was on lack of attention in children (de Vinuesa Fernández, 2017). The first case of documented treatment for the disorder was done by Charles Bradley in 1937. In this specific case, he used a stimulant called Benzedrine to treat the disorder. Although Bradley's original intention for this medication was to treat headaches in children, Benzedrine proved to help academic performance and behavior in the children treated with this drug (Mannem et al., 2021). Before the deinstitutionalization movement, some children with ADHD were sent to live in institutions; the care in these institutions was not conducive to treating the problem. Instead, the individual was excluded from the mainstream population (E. Taylor, 2011).

It was not until 1968 that the American Psychiatric Association recognized what is now referred to as ADHD in their *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental*

Disorders (DSM, 2nd ed.) as hyperkinetic reaction of childhood. As the DSM was updated, so was the terminology; the DSM-III listed the condition as attention deficit disorder (ADD) in 1980. The term was changed to ADHD in the DSM-III-R (1987). The DSM-IV-TR (2000) still used the term ADHD. However, three subcategories of the disorder (i.e., hyperactive, inattentive, and combination) were added to the DSM-IV (Wolraich et al., 2019). Although in the latest edition, the DSM-V continues to recognize the three subcategories, it gives attention to ADHD in adolescents and adulthood that makes it easier to identify at these stages (Epstein & Loren, 2013).

Diagnosing cases of ADHD in adults increased due to the publication of the *DSM-5* in 2013. The updated information increased the age of reported onset of ADHD in children from age 7 to age 12 (Young & Goodman, 2016). Before this update, diagnosing adults with ADHD was difficult because the *DSM-4* required that symptoms of ADHD must have been present before age 7 of the adult being diagnosed (Faraone et al., 2006). Diagnosing ADHD in adults requires collecting information from the individual to be diagnosed regarding childhood experience to determine the onset of symptoms (Lin et al., 2015).

ADHD is not only an American founded disorder, but it is also actually a global issue as well. The global rate of ADHD worldwide is 5.9% (Smith, 2017). Evidence did not present itself regarding ADHD being a global issue until into the 1990s (Conrad et al., 2018). Until this time, ADHD was viewed as an American affliction. Varying cultural and social norms may play a part in the difference in ADHD diagnosis rates in countries outside of the United State (Asherson et al., 2012).

Causes of ADHD

ADHD has affected many individuals who are subject to risk factors such as prenatal factors; people of mothers who used tobacco and alcohol while pregnant are at risk. There is also a substantial genetic component of the diagnosis of ADHD, so family history is considered when being diagnosed (CDC, 2019).

Genetic Factors

Although research reveals that there is a genetic factor involved in ADHD, genes do not outweigh the other factors contributing to ADHD in individuals (Barkley, 2017). This means that other factors may be equal contributors to this condition.

Environmental Factors

According to the National Institute of Mental Health (2020), environmental factors, including low exposure to toxins, such as chemicals, at an early age and in utero may contribute to symptoms of ADHD. In addition, the mother smoking, using drugs, and alcohol while pregnant may also contribute to an individual having ADHD (National Institute of Mental Health, 2020). Brain damage is another factor that may cause symptoms of ADHD (Fluegge, 2020). The symptoms that are experienced after a traumatic brain injury occurs meet the criteria of symptoms of ADHD. Symptoms experienced by the individual may include forgetfulness, disorganization, and impulsivity. This is what qualifies traumatic brain injury as a risk factor for developing ADHD. The final consensus regarding "nature versus nurture" regarding ADHD is that although more factors may lean on the side of genetics, environmental aspects play a part of symptoms developed (Ghirardi et al., 2019).

Symptoms of ADHD

Symptoms of ADHD appear before the age of 12 and may present themselves as early as age 3 (Riglin et al., 2022). There are three types of ADHD classified in the *DSM*-5 including inattentive, hyperactive-impulsive, and combined..

Inattentive Type

The symptoms of inattention must be evident in the individual for at least 6 consecutive months to meet this criterion for diagnosis. According to the *DSM-5*, the inattention must also be inappropriate for the age and developmental level of the subject. Examples of inattention are as follows:

- failure to pay attention to details which may cause mistakes in daily living tasks,
 professional life, and schoolwork
- difficulty maintaining focus in daily functioning
- poor listening skills
- lack of follow-through in schoolwork, projects, and/or chores
- poor organizational skills
- avoidance of tasks that require focus
- forgetfulness
- difficulty concentrating and distractibility

Hyperactive-Impulsive Type

Individuals exhibiting this type of ADHD have difficulty taking turns, speaking out of turn, and interrupting others, and have difficulty staying seated. They also have the propensity to speak or act before consequences are considered.

Combined Type

This classification of ADHD is a pattern of not only hyperactivity, but inattentiveness as well. (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

ADHD in Children

An average of one in seven children in the United States is diagnosed with ADHD (Schwartz, 2016). Although resources are available for parents and caregivers regarding various treatments such as pharmaceuticals, homeopathic remedies, and dietary modifications, many parents and caregivers either do not have access to this information in its entirety or have difficulty understanding which route to take when treating their child for ADHD (Fridman et al., 2017).

Many children go untreated or are overmedicated because parents and caregivers may not have the correct resources to make informed decisions (Fulton, 2015). The topic of treating ADHD in children has become very controversial ("The Great ADHD Controversy," 2014). Parents and caregivers want and need substantial support such as support groups and nonobjective resources (Leitch et al., 2019). In addition, once children get older and do not have the guidance and support regarding managing their ADHD, the disorder sometimes goes untreated (Chan et al., 2016).

In many cases, the classroom teacher may be the first to recognize behaviors of ADHD in their students, playing a key role in the intervention process (Aheran, 2022). Parents may not recognize these symptoms as they have no other children with whom to compare. Children with ADHD often have challenges in school with academics and behavior. In some cases, children with ADHD will avoid classwork because they may have difficulty focusing and staying on task (Owens, 2020). Task avoidance may include

crying, leaving their designated area, leaving the classroom, becoming disruptive, or shutting down. It is crucial for early intervention to take place for individuals with ADHD to obtain assistance for academic and social success (Hare et al., 2021).

Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD)-Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) Comorbidity. ADHD is a comorbidity in approximately 30-50% of children diagnosed with ASD (Davis & Collin, 2012 as cited in Rad et al, 2019). Parents of individuals who have a diagnosis of both ASD and ADHD have reported that the severity of the ADHD symptoms are more severe than reports from parents of individuals with a diagnosis of only ADHD. Of the most prominent ADHD symptoms, inattentiveness was reported by the parents of the children with ASD and ADHD (Zablotsky et al., 2020). When individuals have the dual diagnosis of ADHD-ASD, there is a higher chance of them having more severe emotional and behavior problems in comparison to individuals not experiencing this comorbidity combination (Thomas et al., 2018).

ADHD in Adults

Barbaresi et al., (2013) discovered that symptoms from ADHD will persist into adulthood for approximately one-third of this population. For those who do not get diagnosed until they are an adult, struggles with executive functioning skills are evident (Dorr & Armstrong, 2019). Because of the criteria changes in *DSM-5* in 2013, there has been an escalated amount of reported cases of adult ADHD. One of the most significant changes in the *DSM-5* that led to a higher rate of diagnosis in adults is the age of the onset of symptoms. Previously, the *DSM-4* stated the age of onset to be 7, but the update called for the age to be increased from 7 to 12 years old (Leahy, 2018). In addition, the symptoms required for an ADHD diagnosis decreased from 6 to 5.

Adults are commonly untreated and undiagnosed. One of the reasons may be that adults have acquired coping strategies that may hide the significant signs of the disorder (Young, 2005 as cited in Leahy, 2018). Moreover, adults may get misdiagnosed or underdiagnosed because they may already have a diagnosis of another psychological condition that may have similar traits to ADHD (Gerhand & Saville, 2022). For example, someone with anxiety disorder may get misdiagnosed as having ADHD because of the impulsivity and hyperactivity one may experience with anxiety. It is common for adults with ADHD to have comorbidities such as impulse-control disorder, sleep disorders, anxiety disorders, mood disorders, and substance abuse disorders (Ginsberg et al., 2014; Kessler et al, 2006 as cited in Leahy, 2018). Other risk factors for adults with ADHD are asthma, migraine, and obesity (Ginsberg et al., 2014 as cited in Leahy, 2018).

Social Functioning

A higher rate of difficulties with relationships, self-organization, planning, and mood control has been reported by adults with ADHD (Nakai et al., 2022). Because individuals with ADHD experience impulsivity, disorganization, and emotional regulation, social interactions may not always result favorably. For example, miscommunications and inappropriate reactions to a spouse may result in a failed relationship (Wymbs et al., 2021).

Addictions

Individuals diagnosed with ADHD are at risk for addictions. These addictions may include gambling, overeating, video game addiction, alcoholism, drug addiction, and many other addictive behaviors that are detrimental to daily functioning, health, and personal and professional relationships (Fatséas et al., 2016). The comorbidity of

addiction is common in mental health disorders. A study involving individuals with ADHD revealed that they are 2 to 3 times more likely to develop a substance abuse disorder (Schellekens et al., 2020).

Prescription stimulant abuse. Prescription stimulant abuse is common amongst college students. They are easily accessible because they are used to treat ADHD. A study based on a sample size of 900 college students revealed that 9.8% of individuals who were college age used prescription stimulants with a prescription (Fairman et al., 2021). In this study, qualifications of participation did not require a diagnosis of ADHD. Therefore, there was no indication as to whether the participants were self-medicating or using prescription stimulants for recreational purposes. According to Ivanov et al., (2022), although stimulants are beneficial in treating ADHD, there is a sub-population of individuals diagnosed with ADHD who may be at risk for developing a substance abuse disorder. This is especially true for patients who have a predisposition for addiction due to family history.

Gambling addiction. Symptoms of pathological gamblers may be cognitive rigidity, imprecise response, impulsivity, deficit in reaction suppression, slower time evaluation, and disruption in inhibition process. According to Altable et al., (2022), pathological gamblers diagnosed with ADHD have more severe addictive behavior than those without ADHD. In addition, 26.3 % of gamblers had a diagnosis of ADHD.

Video game addiction. The use of technological devices being used by children younger than age one has become increasingly commonplace in the home. An expert committee which included the American Pediatric Association and Indian Academy of Pediatrics recommend that screen time for children 2 to 4 ½ years of age should be

limited to only 1 hour of supervised screen time per day. Children under 2 years old age should not have any screen time. It is also recommended that screen time should never replace sleep, family time, outdoor play, or peer interaction (Gupta et al., 2022).

Masi et al., (2021), report that 91% of children ages 2 to 12 years old play video games. During this period, children with ADHD have a propensity to become attracted to games that may lead them to become hyper focused. In addition, 2 – 5% of adolescents display characteristics of video game addition. The *DSM-5* lists video game addiction as being comorbid with internet gaming disorder (APA, 2013).

Obesity/overeating. Several studies have revealed a link between ADHD and obesity (Cortese et al., 2016). It is possible that the inattention and impulsivity traits of ADHD may be attributed to poor eating patterns which results in excessive weight gain. Poor diet and binge eating due to factors that also fall under the category of ADHD characteristics such as impulsivity and poor executive functioning skills have been suggested to be the common thread to obesity and ADHD. However, researchers state that more research is suggested to reveal more in-depth factors that attribute the risk factor of obesity for individuals with ADHD (Hané, 2018).

Diagnosis

The diagnoses are predicated on the *DSM-5* assessment criteria. With the *DSM-5* being the basis of diagnosis criteria, rating scales are provided so that parents, caregivers, and educators can evaluate the visible symptoms. The rating scale contains 18 symptoms and the extent of impairment because of the prevailing symptoms (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). These rating scales are especially important to clinical practice as they assist in determining the start, progression, and the impairment that arises from

various symptoms (Sibley et al., 2017). However, the problem of diagnosing ADHD persists as caregivers are ill-prepared when it comes to distinguishing between other conditions that exhibit similar characteristics and ADHD (Bélanger et al., 2018).

Traditionally, interviews and rating scales were being used to diagnose ADHD, however, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved a neuropsychiatric electroencephalograph (EEG) test named the Neuropsychiatric EEG-Based Assessment Aid (NEBA) to assist with diagnosing ADHD in patients between the ages of 6 to 17 years old (Lenartowicz & Loo, 2014). The EEG measures and records brain waves, which helps identify specific neurological disorders, but is not always accurate (Gloss et al., 2016). The test proved to be accurate 88% of the time but did not compare to an actual clinical exam which was documented to be accurate in 94% of trials (Karceski, 2016). The first practitioner to implement the use of an EEG in a study on humans was Dr. Herbert Jasper, a neuroscientist who pioneered the use of the EEG in diagnosing disorders of the brain, especially epilepsy (Avoli, 2010).

Controversy in Treatment

The concern regarding the treatment of ADHD is global (Smith, 2017). As a result, many individuals and organizations promote alternative methods to treating ADHD in lieu of and in addition to medication. This trend has become a huge market that targets those who have a stake in helping those with this disorder (C. Wang et al., 2020). Some studies suggest that alternative methods are successful in treating symptoms of ADHD (C. Wang et al., 2020). Moreover, many individuals continue having symptoms of ADHD well into adulthood (Chan et al., 2016).

According to a survey sponsored by the CDC (2016), approximately 23% of

children diagnosed with ADHD in the United States were not treated pharmacologically for the conditions associated with this disorder. In addition, they receive no additional support such as behavior management and dietary adjustments. Controversy over using this method without exploring other methods has sparked concern amongst parents, educators, and caregivers. Adverse effects have been associated with treating ADHD with medication (Rohatgi et al., 2015). As a result, concern over adverse effects of pharmaceuticals has triggered a trend in using alternative methods such as dietary supplements containing herbs and essential oils, nutrition plans, and specialized behavior support (C. Wang et al., 2020). In addition, children with ADHD who receive no treatment experience low academic achievement and, sometimes, behavior problems (Arnold et al., 2020).

There are two types of treatment strategies for ADHD, pharmacologic and nonpharmacologic therapies. Some examples of pharmacologic therapies include alpha-2 agonists, stimulants, antidepressants, and selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (Lecky et al., 2019). Regarding some of the nonpharmacologic therapies, the treatment regimens include behavioral interventions, psychosocial interventions, learning training, cognitive training therapies, parent behavior training, and biofeedback and neurofeedback (Owens et al., 2018). Other nonpharmacologic treatments involve dietary supplements, vision training, elimination diets, and chiropractic treatment (Rucklidge et al., 2018). Behavioral therapy is recommended for children between the ages of 4 to 5 years. For individuals between the ages of 6 to 18, both FDA-approved medications and behavioral therapy are advised (Sibley et al., 2020).

Adverse Effects of Pharmaceutical Treatment

Several unfavorable effects arise from the use of pharmacologic treatment; namely, decrease in weight, changes in appetite, suppression of growth, elevated blood pressure, cardiac arrhythmias, sleep disturbance (Gazer-Snitovsky et al., 2019). It is important to acknowledge that suicide ideation can be caused by medications or can be an underlying ADHD health outcome (Storebø et al., 2018). Treatment can cause personality changes that end up robbing the individual's vigor and meaning of life.

Overtreatment due to misdiagnosis is another issue of concern as a disadvantageous effect of ADHD treatment. Individuals with minimal monitoring may be victims of overtreatment or undertreatment. Overtreatment is a pointless endeavor as there are usually no potential benefits, while the health of the individual may be further threatened (Sieluk et al., 2017). Because most of the pharmacological treatment options and drugs are stringently controlled, overtreatment may result in drug dependence and abuse. Pharmacological treatment is usually expensive and ends up costing families more than they can afford (Yule et al., 2019). This situation exacerbates the stress levels of parents and care givers. Currently, the most prescribed medicine to treat ADHD is Adderall (CDC, 2019), which has a reputation for being abused by teenagers and adults. The first FDA-approved medication to treat ADHD symptoms was Benzedrine and it was prescribed by Dr. Charles Bradley in 1937 (CDC, 2019). Benzedrine is no longer available in the United States; there was rampant abuse of this drug (Mannem et al., 2021). Ritalin has also been prescribed to treat the symptoms of ADHD (Colzato & Arntz, 2017).

Stimulant Medications and Stimulant Therapy

This type of treatment is the most popularly used method in treating ADHD (Stolberg, 2017). As a treatment option, stimulants are highly effective in managing the symptoms of ADHD. Some of these symptoms include hyperactivity, impulsive behavior, and limited attention span. Stimulant therapy can be effective when used by itself or it can be combined with behavioral therapy. Stimulants are a highly effective way to improve symptoms over a short span of time. Studies show that 70% to 80% of individuals suffering from ADHD (both children and adults) show improvements in their symptoms as soon as they start the treatment (Buker et al., 2020). Improvements in symptoms can be indicated by reduced fidgeting and interrupting.

As the patient continues to use stimulant medications, both their behavior and symptoms improve gradually. Although these types of drugs are not considered habit-forming, abuse of the medication is a strong possibility. People with a history of drug problems are more likely to abuse stimulants (Rajeh et al., 2017).

Examples of Stimulants Used to Treat ADHD

There are several variations of stimulants used to treat ADHD based on the nature of their functions, including short-acting, which has a more immediate effect: intermediate-acting, and long-acting. Some of the common stimulants for treating ADHD in the market are shown in Table 1.

Table 1Common Stimulants for Treating ADHD

| Short-acting | Intermediate-acting | Long acting |
|--------------|---------------------|-------------|
| Dexedrine | Adderall | Adderall XR |
| Focalin | Dexedrine Spansule | Concerta |
| Ritalin | Focalin XR | Daytrana |
| | Metadate ER | Metadate CD |
| | Methylin ER | Ritalin LA |
| | Ritalin SR | Vyvanse |
| | | |

The usual dosage of long-acting drugs is once daily, while for short-acting drugs it is twice or thrice daily. Some newer forms of drugs in this respect, such as Concerta, Ritalin, and Adderall XR can both relieve symptoms and decrease the side effects.

The following are people not eligible to take stimulant drugs:

- patients exhibiting an allergic reaction to the stimulant medication
- individuals with glaucoma
- patients exhibiting severe agitation, nervousness, tension, or anxiety
- patients under prior treatment regimens
- individuals who have a history with Tourette's syndrome.
- people with a history of psychosis
- people with overactive thyroids
- individuals suffering from coronary diseases
- people with a negative history of overconsumption of alcohol

Most stimulant medications are filled every month and often require frequent reevaluations. There are several instruments used to monitor the treatment response over time. Examples of monitoring instruments in the market include the Swanson, Nolan, and Pelham Scale Version IV (SNAP-IV), the Conners scales, and the Vanderbilt scales. Monitoring also involves the activity of evaluating the adverse effects of medications. The variations in monitoring are based on several factors including the specific treatment, child's age, treatment duration, comorbid conditions, previous symptoms (Hoseini et al., 2014), and the primary care provider (e.g., parents).

Nonstimulant Medication Used to Treat ADHD

In 2002, Atomoxetine was approved to treat ADHD in children, adolescents, and adults. This medication is marketed under the brand name, Strattera. Currently, this is the first nonstimulant medication on the market formulated specifically for ADHD (Agarwal et al., 2012).

Complementary and Alternative Medicine (CAM)

There are a variety of CAM methods that are commonly used to treat ADHD. According to the results from National Health Interview Surveys conducted in 2012 and 2017, meditation was the most frequently used CAM to treat ADHD in children (C. Wang et al., 2020). This study revealed that the most used CAMs associated with the mind-body modalities were mediation, yoga, and deep breathing. CAM usage increased from 2012 to 2017. These studies also revealed that children with ADHD experience comorbidities of the psychiatric nature at a rate of 91.9%. In addition, these children are more likely to take an alternative approach to treating symptoms of ADHD than those without comorbidities.

Another CAM that has proved to be effective is exposing individuals with ADHD to open green spaces such as parks, cemeteries, and other spaces with land that contains trees, grass, bushes, and other types of vegetation (Thygesen et al., 2020).

Dietary treatment and nutritional supplements. Eliminating sugar, preservatives, and food colors have been reported to make a small, but not substantial, difference in treating the symptoms of ADHD (Abd El Baaki et al., 2021).

Interactive metronome training. As an instrument, a metronome marks the time with a clicking sound. Musicians widely use it to keep up with the beat. The same principle helps treat people with ADHD as it teaches them to follow a rhythm. It helps with problems arising from timing and attention in ADHD individuals (Kemper et al., 2018).

Sensory integration training. Individuals with disabilities including ADHD may have trouble regulating their reactions to daily stimuli. For example, they may get overstimulated in a busy classroom or a crowded mall. The brain is usually a cornucopia of sensory feedback and reacting to multiple stimuli can be problematic for people with ADHD. Sensory integration training involves "teaching" the brain to better manage these sensory inputs, enabling people with ADHD to have more control over their reactions (Camarata et al., 2020).

EEG biofeedback. Doctors and physicians widely use the EEG machine to study the brainwaves of individuals with ADHD. Through the pictures provided by the EEG, sectors of the brain that may be unresponsive to stimuli can be identified. People with ADHD are usually taught how to ignite brain activities in the "dark" sectors. When this kind of training is done correctly, different aspects of ADHD in the patient (e.g.,

attentiveness) may begin to improve. However, the disadvantage of this type of treatment is that it is costly to parents and caregivers (Arms et al., 2020).

Chiropractic. This is considered an alternative method of medicine where the spine is manipulated in order to relieve pain in joints and muscles as well as increasing blood flow to the brain and other areas of the body. The idea is that adjusting the spinal cord will improve the overall health of people with ADHD. Although there is little evidence to support this idea, there are many people who stand by this treatment regime (Barkley, 2017).

Behavior Management

Applied behavior management has been the latest trend in behavior management for children with ADHD and ASD (Pfiffner & DuPaul, 2015). This is conducted in a one-to-one setting and usually involves a therapist working within the child's environment, to observe and redirect behavior. According to the CDC (2019), applied behavior management is a commonly used instrument in treating children who have ADHD and ASD. Pfiffner and Haack (2014) agreed that behavior management treatments are one of the latest trends used in nonpharmacological approaches in the treatment of ADHD and the related impairments. Shenoy et al. (2017) conducted a review disclosing that applied behavior management has been effective in treating ADHD and ASD for several years. Applied behavior management strategies have satisfied the criteria as evidence-based practices for the management of challenging behavior in ADHD and ASD in several studies (Fitzpatrick et al., 2016). Specifically, a meta-evaluation establishing the effectiveness of applied behavior management for young children with ASD demonstrated medium to significantly favorable effects on intellectual functioning,

development of speech, acquisition of living skills, and social functioning (Shenoy et al., 2017).

Mainly, behavior management is a useful therapy for ADHD, which improves children's self-control, self-confidence, and behaviors. The CDC (2019) substantiated that this treatment is effective in young children; however, its full effectiveness is realized when it is implemented by the parents. Most importantly, the healthcare providers deem it favorable for parents of children under 12 years old for skills training in behavior management. Mainly, for children under 6 years old, skills training of parents in behavioral management is more effective when institutionalized before the prescription of ADHD medication. The CDC (2019) posited that parents who complete behavioral management training are equipped with strategies, skills, and information that are instrumental in helping their children with ADHD succeed in relationships at home and school. According to Pfiffner and Haack (2014), behavior management as a treatment is useful when the emphasis is on changing the negative parent-child association patterns that are common in families with a child exhibiting problems in behaviors or suffering from ADHD. More so, in most countries, incorporating parents who are trained in behavior management is recommended as a primary intervention for children with mild or moderate ADHD (De Meyer et al., 2019).

The treatment involves designing behavioral changes aimed to reduce the prominence of the socially disruptive symptoms and to enable the patients to function more smoothly and improve their success in private and public environments. Notably, it features a face-to-face setting where the therapist works within the background of the child to observe and direct to reduce the frequency of occurrence of unwanted behaviors.

Shenoy et al. (2017) substantiated the goals of behavior management in treating ADHD and ASD include facilitation and stimulation of cognition, socialization, and language development. Another objective involves the reduction of autism-bound maladaptive behaviors such as stereotypy and rigidity and removal of unspecified maladaptive acts such as irritability, impulsivity, and hyperactivity. Lastly, behavior management is aimed at elevating the stress burden among the family (Shenoy et al., 2017). However, the main aim of behavior management is to investigate the interaction between the patients and their environment while formulating intervention strategies to reduce unwanted behavior and encourage socially accepted behaviors.

Behavior management is used to complement desired behaviors and reduce reckless actions. This treatment promotes what caregivers and parents ought to do before, after, during, and between the episodes of wanton behaviors. Notably, behavior management uses applied behavior analysis, which is an approach that follows up with the progress of the child in improving his or her skills (Barbaresi et al., 2020). Applied behavior is a science of which procedures rely on behavior principles through systematic experimentation (Bailey & Burch, 2017). Healthcare providers have employed applied behavior science effectively to change socially relevant behaviors of people with autism spectrum disorder (Leaf et al., 2021).

Theoretical overview of behavior management. The practices, skills, or strategies applied in behavior management are based on the contingency theory (Pfiffner and Haack, 2014). Notably, contingency theory suggests that behavior is a function of resulting consequences. In other words, the exhibition of any behavior is based on its effects. For instance, if a behavior can produce a positive result, a person is likely to

repeat the behavior. On the other hand, if an action has a negative effect, the person is expected to refrain from it (Pfiffner & DuPaul, 2015). Therefore, the frequency of a child's behavior can be aggravated by following it with positive reinforcement or favorable stimuli or by eliminating unfavorable incentives or negative reinforcement.

In contrast, the consistency of a behavior can be reduced by following it with a harmful stimulus such as a punishment or by dealing away with positive reinforcement. Pfiffner and Haack (2014) suggested that the application of contingency management for a period can result in shaping the behavior of the child to achieve the intended goals or objectives. Lastly, behavior management treatment is associated with the underpinnings of social learning theory that integrates the principles of contingency theory and other factors such as designing and imitation of identified behaviors and cognitive factors including parent behaviors and parent evaluations and characteristics of child behavior, respectively.

Interventions of behavioral management. In structuring behavior management interventions, it is first paramount to conduct a functional behavioral assessment (FBA). The analysis includes observing or identifying the target positive and negative behaviors. In other words, this analysis incorporates the learning theory and operant behavior principles (Fitzpatrick et al., 2016). Notably, these principles depend on a thorough observation and definition of behavior and recognizing that behaviors serve a purpose or function (Fitzpatrick et al., 2016). According to Shenoy et al. (2017), this treatment is based on the theoretical foundations of operant and learning conditions that include targets attached to positive reinforcement. After identification of the behaviors, factors in the children's environment associated with the occurrence of the behavior should be

identified (Pfiffner and Haack, 2014). This is because individuals diagnosed with ADHD or ASD appear to react differently to reinforcements or incentives than do their counterparts (Morsink et al., 2017).

It is important to note that these factors in the child's settings occur immediately before and after the occurrence of the behaviors that may be causing or maintaining the chances of the behavior observed or identified. Therefore, the function of the behavior or the cause of the behavior can be established (Pfiffner and Haack, 2014). For example, the role of a targeted behavior can revolve around seeking attention or evading work.

Specifically, Pfiffner and Haack (2014) posited that the target area describes the areas of functional impairment affecting the everyday life of the child diagnosed with ADHD or ASD. Another important aspect of this model involves the definitions of the behaviors with their consequences and antecedents to establish their objectivity and measurability.

Therefore, this analysis assists in the development of the behavior plan that is paramount in changing the defined consequences and antecedents (D. F. Curtis et al., 2020). It is essential to mention that these antecedents and consequences are responsible for sustaining the target behavior. Most importantly, changing the probability of the occurrence of the behavior in the right way (decreasing or increasing) is achievable. Therefore, the FBA serves to collect data that determine the desirable consequences that can maintain a child's particular behavior (Fitzpatrick et al., 2016).

As mentioned earlier, to realize the full potential of behavior management in treating children with ADHD and ASD, parents' involvement is critical (Curtis et al., 2020). Therefore, another critical intervention surrounds parent-child interaction modifications. Notably, behavior management treatment emphasizes changing negative

interactions pattern between a child and a parent that is prevalent among families with a child suffering from ADHD and ASD (Pfiffner and Haack, 2014). These relational or interaction patterns are also known as the coercive process. The coercive process refers to the procedure in which the parents and children regulate one another's behaviors through negative reinforcement (Pfiffner & Haack, 2014). For instance, this negative interaction or coercive process is manifested when a child engages in unwanted behavior such as noncompliance with a parent's instructions, and the parent ends up responding negatively. The responses from both the child and the parent create a cycle or a pattern over time that escalates in severity or emotional tone (Pfiffner & Haack, 2014). Either the parent or the child adheres to the demand of the other, ending the process, and reinforcing the aggravated negative behavior trend.

Therefore, many of the functional impairments and associated behavioral problems manifested by the children become supplemented through the circle. This process leads to adverse outcomes, such as poor educational performance, peer relations, and social skills (Bunford et al., 2018). Hence, such scenarios call for behavior management training that directly addresses the dysfunctional child-parent relationship discussed above by equipping the parents with skills of modifying antecedents and consequences to decrease the probability of occurrence of the coercive process and enhance the child's behavior as well as the family associations (Kamimura-Nishimura, 2019).

Parent training. Living with a child, adolescent, or young adult diagnosed with ADHD can be extremely stressful if behaviors cause a daily disruption. It can be especially disturbing if defiant behaviors are reinforced by reacting the wrong way.

Sometimes this behavior can escalate into aggression; this can jeopardize the safety of the student as well as parents, caregivers, and teachers (Shimabukuro et al., 2017). Behavior parent training (BPT) is an effective evidence-based approach to the behavior management of children with ADHD. The goal of this approach is to increase the effectiveness of parent-child interactions in relation to severe behaviors. During parent training, the parent receives guidance on how to interact with their children by learning skills to reduce unwanted behavior, increase parent-child relationships, and increase positive behavior. This method has proved to not only improve the overall family dynamics, but it reduces the stress encountered by parents of children with ADHD (Ciesielski et al., 2020).

Adverse Effects of Diagnosis

In many cases, society is unkind to people diagnosed with ADHD and their motivation is being driven by ignorance of the affliction. Children with ADHD are occasionally bullied and left out of social events like sports. In addition, those children who are mainstreamed in regular education classes may feel as though they are "singled out" when they received services in class (A. Rubin, personal communication, September 1, 2020). Parents are less likely to have their children treated with medication if the child or parent feels as though there is a stigma involved, whether it is internally or socially (Mueller et al., 2012).

The prevalence of this situation has led to negatively impacting children's self-esteem, with many of them choosing to become introverts (Al-Yagon et al., 2020).

Another adverse effect of ADHD diagnosis is the rampant occurrence of misdiagnosis that might result in underdiagnoses or overdiagnosis (Manos et al., 2017).

ADHD outcomes are measured by two metrics: functional impairment and performance. Children with ADHD are more susceptible to underperforming in their academic endeavors (McCue, 2022). Taking standardized tests is often more challenging for adolescents and children diagnosed with ADHD (Arnold et al., 2020). As the child grows into an adult, these experiences may become a part of their beliefs and decisions regarding how they chose to treat their ADHD.

Reflecting on the problems that persist until adulthood, adults with ADHD may have difficulty obtaining and/or even keeping steady employment. ADHD can be associated with problematic family relationships and socializing with peers (Klein et al., 2012). Adults suffering from ADHD have been seen to take unnecessary risks, leading to negative outcomes like accidents and car crashes (Romo et al., 2019). Individuals with ADHD may be impulsive and may not take into consideration immediate or long-term consequences which may result in over-indulging in behaviors like smoking and drinking alcohol (Sayal et al., 2018). Also, research shows that other risky behaviors associated with ADHD are unprotected sex and promiscuity (Garcia et al., 2012). Individuals with ADHD are also at risk for behaviors such as gambling, overeating, and video game addiction (Cortese et al., 2013; Waluk et al., 2016). Other notable mental problems in adulthood include mood disorders, suicide ideation, depression and anxiety, and risk of self-injury (M. R. Taylor et al., 2014).

Many adults currently live with undiagnosed ADHD. According to studies conducted, individuals with ADHD are predisposed to develop addictions (Schellekens et al., 2020). This population is more susceptible to drug abuse as they tend to self-medicate. The drug of choice for those individuals is primarily stimulant drugs as this

increases the dopamine levels in their brains that is lacking due to their untreated ADHD (Carpentier & Levin, 2017). According to van Emmerik-van Oortmerssen et al. (2012), approximately one out of every four patients diagnosed with ADHD have a substance use disorder (SUD). Internet addiction has also been linked to those with ADHD (Wang et al., 2017).

Positive ADHD Traits

Not all aspects of having ADHD are challenging. Ironically, the very traits that are perceived to be detrimental to the individual with ADHD are assets (Thurik et al., 2016). These strengths may include creativity, flexibility, spontaneity, and the ability to become hyper-focused (Girard-Joyal & Gauthier, 2022). The strength of spontaneity which may be viewed as impulsivity by some is the very trait that is beneficial to entrepreneurs (Wiklund et al., 2017). Hyperactivity is also a supportive trait when it comes to the devotion and endless hours of running one's own organization (Antshel, 2018). Recent studies have shown that entrepreneurs possess ADHD traits that enable them to embrace their passion for creating which results in success (Hatak et al., 2021). There are many accomplished people who have been diagnosed with ADHD, including celebrities, scientists, and well-known leaders (CHADD.org, 2017). Albert Einstein is thought to have had ADHD and autistic spectrum disorder (ASD). Experts in the field of ADHD believe that Einstein's well-known traits of disorganization, poor time management skills, and forgetfulness were amongst the symptoms that qualify for a diagnosis of ADHD (Rao, 2022). There is often a link between disabilities and exceptional abilities. Many individuals who experience impulsive and distractable behaviors are phenomenal emergency health care specialists, paramedics, and fire

fighters. It is believed that this is due to the adrenaline that is stimulated during the fight-or-flight response. During this response, the individual is hyper-focused and can utilize superior analytical skills (Kessler, 2013).

Chapter 3: Methodology

Aim of the Study

The problem that was addressed in the research study was that many individuals were not diagnosed with ADHD until they were adults (Jones, 2022). The purpose of this study was to examine the experiences and beliefs of the participants regarding the management of ADHD and the impact that experiences may or may not have regarding the quality of life during adulthood. The interpreted data revealed a clearer understanding of the motivation behind choices of current treatment, life choices, and life perspectives of adults diagnosed with ADHD. It also revealed the impact of an early diagnosis of ADHD.

Qualitative Research Approach

The research study utilized a phenomenological qualitative design approach for data collection. According to Creswell (2017), a qualitative approach to research was warranted when open ended questions were used to collect data regarding individual experiences. Using a phenomenological research method to capture the lived experiences of individuals diagnosed with ADHD focused on the perspective of the subject.

Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA) proved to be useful in examining beliefs and experiences of an individual that may be complicated, ambiguous, and/or emotionally charged (Alase, 2017).

Participants

Purposive sampling was used to identify those with ADHD from specific areas of the United States. This type of sampling ensured that respondents were informed regarding the subject matter in the research study. The research participant age range for

this study was from 18 to 65 years old.

The researcher used Facebook, LinkedIn, and CHADD to recruit participants for the research study. According to Creswell (2017), this type of research enabled participants who experienced the phenomenon to expressively convey their perceptions of lived experiences. In addition, Creswell maintained that qualitative methods were used to retrieve elements regarding phenomena that included emotions, feelings, and frame of mind. The conditions of being a participant in this study included the ability to commit time to participate in the study and having been diagnosed with ADHD at any time in their lives. The number of participants in this study was 15. Although, a sample size of 3 to 10 participants was recommend for a phenomenological study (Duke, 1984 as cited in Creswell & Poth, 2018), it was documented that other researchers conducted this type of research with more subjects (Edwards, 2006 as cited in Creswell & Poth, 2018). Creswell (2015) stated that a greater sample size affected the quality of the results as collecting and analyzing qualitative data can be very time consuming.

Instrument

Data were collected to answer the research questions using an interview protocol with open-ended questions developed by the researcher during structured interviews (see Appendix A). This was done either via telephone or video conferencing. The research protocol was developed with the assistance of both formative and summative committees prior to its use (Reeves, 2020). The formative committee consisted of the researcher, her applied committee dissertation chair, and a professional colleague familiar with the research. The summative committee consisted of the researcher's applied dissertation committee member and two additional professional colleagues familiar with the research.

Open-ended survey questions were developed by the researcher and were implemented individually during a structured interview. This was via telephone or via video conference.

Procedures

Once the researcher obtained International Review Board (IRB) approval, the study began by recruiting participants. Participants in the study included adults who were diagnosed with ADHD at any time in their lives. A sampling of 15 participants were included in this study.

Sources for recruiting participants were adult members of CHADD, LinkedIn subscribers, and Facebook, using purposeful sampling. The purposeful method presented accessibility issues regarding participants; therefore, snowball sampling was used as a secondary method of recruiting participants (Palinkas et al., 2015). Participants recruited through the purposeful method may refer candidates, thus providing an ideal organic recruitment scenario (Parker et al., 2019). A campaign was created for Facebook and LinkedIn by posting a flyer (see Appendix B) with information containing the purpose of the study, the instrument used to collect data, criteria for participation eligibility, and researcher contact information. This flyer was also submitted along with pertinent information regarding the study to be reviewed by the advisory board of CHADD for site approval to be granted.

Once site approval from CHADD was granted and IRB approval was granted by Nova Southeastern University, the recruitment campaign began. Subjects contacted the researcher through email and telephone to express interest in participating in the study.

Once the candidate understood all the information encompassed in the study and agreed

to participate, a consent form was emailed for the potential subject to sign through DocuSign. Once this was done, an interview was scheduled and held via a video conferencing or telephone.

Because sample selection had such a profound effect on the results of a qualitative study, the theoretical approach was used as it served as purposeful sampling (Farrugia, 2019). According to Alase (2017), a qualitative interview was key in collecting data regarding experiences from an individual. In addition, Kvale (2007) also indicated that a qualitative interview was imperative to explore paths in which interviewees understand and experience their world.

Data Analysis

Once collected, the qualitative data were reanalyzed by coding and recording themes (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Creswell (2015) stated that there were six steps to analyzing qualitative data. These steps were to collect the data, prepare the data by organizing it, read through the data in order to get a general idea of its content, code the data and assign code labels, code the data to create themes, and code the description and prepare it for the research report (Creswell, 2015).

The thematic approach to analyzing data proved to be flexible as well as an easy method to grasp by researchers with extraordinarily little experience (Taylor et al., 2018). During the interview process, the researcher condensed their notes and review the individual's responses with the individual to ensure accuracy (Kvale, 2007). During this review, the subject had an opportunity to comment on the researcher's interpretations; corrections were made as needed. This occurred immediately after the interview.

Ethical Considerations

There were several ethical issues to consider when dealing with human subjects. Therefore, it was crucial to be completely transparent with all stakeholders as well as not pressuring potential participants into signing consent forms (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The researcher informed subjects of the purpose of the study, confidentiality, and assured them that their participation was completely voluntary. Creswell and Poth (2018) contended that for an ethical interview to take place, it was imperative that the subject understood the purpose of the study before the interview occurred. Furthermore, the interviewees were assured that they were participating strictly on a volunteer basis and that confidentiality was of the utmost importance. Moreover, the researcher followed all guidelines set forth by Nova Southeastern University and the IRB.

Trustworthiness

Throughout the study, the researcher strived to achieve a level of trustworthiness. Every effort was made on the part of the researcher to ensure that she gathered valid data. The researcher carefully followed qualitative research procedures to analyze the data gathered. The researcher made every effort to report the findings while simultaneously avoiding any research bias (Creswell & Guteterman, 2019). Finally, the researcher made every effort to instill confidence in the research findings as well as in the ability to generalize the study results to other settings (Crewel & Guetterman, 2019).

Chapter 4: Findings

Introduction

The problem addressed in this research was that many individuals were not diagnosed with ADHD until they were adults. The purpose of this study was to examine the experiences and beliefs of the participants regarding the management of ADHD and the impact that experiences may or may not have regarding the quality of life during adulthood.

This study used a phenomenological qualitative approach to collect data from 15 adults diagnosed with ADHD about their life experiences. This study utilized a cross-sectional design to collect data via virtual conference interviews and phone calls using an interview protocol that the researcher developed to gather data needed to answer the study's four research questions. Qualitative methods were used to analyze the data to answer the research questions. The qualitative data analysis methods included coding the interview data, organizing the data, identifying categories, identifying themes in the categories, displaying primary themes in a table, and summarizing the primary themes to answer the research questions.

In Chapter 4 is a description of the 15 purposefully selected adult participants with ADHD. There is a table that depicts the alignment of the 10 interview questions with the four research questions. Table 2 groups participants based on the ages they were initially diagnosed with ADHD. The table is useful to guide data analysis for Research Question 1 by organizing the 15 participants into two groups. The two groups are (a) Adults Diagnosed with ADHD in Childhood and (b) Adults Diagnosed with ADHD in Adulthood.

In Chapter 4, each of the four research questions is restated. One or more categories that emerged from the data associated with a specific group of interview questions, aligned with a research question, are indicated. Primary themes that evolved from each category are delineated. Finally, primary themes are used to answer each of the four research questions.

Participants

The 15 participants were a purposefully selected sample of adults with ADHD. The sample was selected from specific areas of the United States. The ages in the sample ranged from 18 to 65 years. The ages of participants when participants were initially diagnosed with ADHD ranged from 8 years to 59 years. The sample was purposefully selected from Facebook, LinkedIn, and CHADD.

Data Analysis for Interview Questions

Research Questions and Alignment With Interview Questions

There are 10 interview questions that collected data for four research questions.

Table 2 displays the alignment of each of the four research questions with the specific interview questions.

Table 2Research Questions and Alignment With Interview Questions

| Number | Research Question | Interview Question |
|--------|--|----------------------|
| 1 | What differences, if any, are there in the quality of life | 1, 3, 4, 7, 8, 9, 10 |
| | between those diagnosed with ADHD in childhood | |
| | and those diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood? | |
| 2 | What type of childhood experiences affect the outcome | 2, 3, 4, 7, 8, 9 |
| | of how adults treat ADHD? | |
| 3 | How have childhood experiences stemming from | 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 |
| | ADHD affected life choices in adults? | |
| 4 | What factors determine how an adult manages their | 5, 6, 8, 9 |
| | ADHD? | |

Ages at Diagnosis With ADHD

Findings in Table 3 present the ages of the 15 participants when they were initially diagnosed with ADHD. The ages of the 15 participants, at the time of diagnosis, ranged from 8 years to 59 years. Table 3 shows the data from Interview Question 10 (How old were you when you were initially diagnosed with ADHD?) used to establish the two groups required to respond to Research Question 1.

Operationally defined for this study and for the response to Research Question 1, Participants 1-7 formed the group diagnosed with ADHD in childhood. Participants 1-7 were diagnosed at 8, 9, 9, 10, 15, and 19 years of ages, respectively. The second group is composed of eight participants (Participants 8-15) with ages that ranged from 29 years to 59 years at the time of initial diagnosis of ADHD. Operationally defined for this study and for the response to Research Question 1, the eight participants were diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood.

Table 3Age at Time of Diagnosis With ADHD (N = 15)

| Participant | Age at Time of Diagnosis with ADHD |
|-------------|------------------------------------|
| 1 | 8 |
| 2 | 9 |
| 3 | 9 |
| 4 | 10 |
| 5 | 15 |
| 6 | 18 |
| 7 | 19 |
| 8 | 29 |
| 9 | 35 |
| 10 | 37 |
| 11 | 43 |
| 12 | 44 |
| 13 | 47 |
| 14 | 55 |
| 15 | 59 |

Research Question 1, Categories, and Primary Themes

The following are (a) restatement of Research Question 1, (b) category (Category for Diagnosis with ADHD in Childhood) that evolved from the data collected from the seven interview questions aligned with Research Question 1 and Participants 1-7, (c) category (Category for Diagnosis with ADHD in Adulthood) that evolved from the data collected from the seven interview questions aligned with Research Question 1 and Participants 8-15, and (d) tables of primary themes emerging from each category. Research Question 1 is, what differences, if any, are there in the quality of life between

those diagnosed with ADHD in childhood and those diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood?

Category for Diagnosis With ADHD in Childhood

Adults' Quality-of-Life Indicators for those Diagnosed with ADHD in Childhood *Primary Themes*

Four themes emerged in the category, and the themes are presented in Table 4. The four themes convey the quality of life for adults diagnosed with ADHD in childhood. The four themes emerged from the interview data associated with the seven interview questions aligned with Research Question 1 and Participants 1-7. Theme 1 is, struggles with procrastination, disorganization, and forgetfulness in school. Theme 2 is distractibility problems occur when performing monotonous tasks on my job. Theme 3 is, ignorance of peers about my ADHD struggles results in low self-esteem, anxiety, and anger issues in school. Theme 4 is, medications stifle my creativity in high school courses but prolong my focus on lesson content (Table 4).

Table 4Quality of Life for Adults Diagnosed With ADHD in Childhood (N=7)

| Number | Primary Theme |
|--------|---|
| 1 | Struggles with procrastination, disorganization, and forgetfulness in |
| | school |
| 2 | Distractibility problems occur when performing monotonous tasks on |
| | my job |
| 3 | Ignorance of my peers about my ADHD struggles results in low self- |
| | esteem, anxiety, and anger issues in school |
| 4 | Medications stifle my creativity in college courses but prolong my |
| | focus on lesson content |

The four themes are reflected in interview statements from participants 1-7. In subsequent paragraphs are selected statements from 4 of 7 participants. The four participants are two high school students, one community recreational center coordinator, and one college student.

Interview data from a high school student participant reflected Theme 1 (struggles with procrastination, disorganization, and forgetfulness in school). The high school student reported performing academically well in classes she liked and poorly in classes she did not enjoy. The high school student responded, "academically, I think I perform well in high school, because I pass standardized tests. Standardized tests provide me with the dopamine rush that makes me perform well. Yet, for many classroom assignments, I always wait until the last minute to work on the assignments. I forget things and get zeros because I may lose the assignments or leave them at home. I perceive myself as being extremely disorganized and forgetful. My desk is a mess, and my locker is a mess according to teachers in parent conferences. Further, I perform well in classes I like, but not well in classes I do not like. The other night, I was late turning in a paper. I am still in high school."

Dopamine is a medication that is a naturally formed chemical in humans. The purpose of Dopamine is to enhance the pumping strength of the heart. Another purpose is to enhance the blood flow to the kidneys (Prakash et al., 2021). The medication is used to treat conditions that happen when patients experience shock. The shock might result from conditions such as heart attack or trauma, or other significant medical situations (Owens, 2020).

Interview data from a community recreation center coordinator suggested Theme 2 (distractibility problems occur when performing monotonous tasks on my job). The coordinator said, "professionally, I struggle with details that are monotonous, like paperwork, and getting to work on time. I became distracted. I was reprimanded several times for being late with paperwork, and the reprimands caused tensions between me and my supervisor. However, I am incredibly good at supervising, counseling, and interacting with children."

Interview data from another high school student echoed Theme 3 (ignorance of my peers about my ADHD struggles resulted in low self-esteem, anxiety, and anger management issues). The high school student perceived her ADHD struggles resulted in low self-esteem. Low self-esteem manifested itself in anxiety and anger issues. The student reported, "I am aggressive in high school because of anger and anxiety issues. I beat up boys and often get teased by boys. I am always moody. Academically, I am horrible in class and hang out with bad students in high school. Sometimes, I skip attending school. I have low self-esteem."

Theme 4 (medications stifle my creativity in college courses but prolong my focus on lesson content) is illustrated in the interview data such as statements made by a college student. The student is a Journalism major. She established a system to improve her college grades. A concern was achieving balance to improve her creativity and prolong her focus on the lesson content. The college student said, "sometimes, when I write, I do not take medications (meds) because the meds shut down my creativity. I require creativity in writing assignments, project work, and small group activities. With lectures in my Journalism program of study, I make sure I sit in front of the class and try

to record the lesson when I can. I am a good college student. In my sophomore year, I noticed that I had to put a system in place for organization."

Category for Diagnosis With ADHD in Adulthood

Adults' Quality-of-Life Indicators for those Diagnosed with ADHD in Adulthood

*Primary Themes**

Seven themes emerged in the category, and the themes are presented in Table 5. The seven themes convey the quality of life for adults diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood. The seven themes emerged from the interview data associated with seven interview questions aligned with Research Question 1 and Participants 8-15.

Theme 1 is, lack of focus and distractibility challenged my reading of our workplace instructions, procedures, and manuals. Theme 2 is, impulsivity contributed to me constantly interrupting friends, and my friends avoided socializing with me. Theme 3 is, hyperactivity helped me become a diligent worker, but there was difficulty getting to work on time; Theme 4 is, use of sports as an outlet for hyperactivity improves my physical, mental, emotional, and social well-being. Theme 5 is, experienced successes in a fast-paced logistics-oriented job but no success in getting desired nuclear missile training job; Theme 6 is, worked to become successful entrepreneur but still traumatized somewhat by childhood trauma stemming from undiagnosed ADHD. Theme 7 is, unacceptance of my ADHD by spouse contributed to my marital disharmony.

Findings in Table 5 depict these seven themes related to the quality of life for adults diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood. Subsequent to the presentation of Table 5 are selected statements. The selected statements are from the interview data of a state government worker, hospitality worker, firefighter, corporate trainer, military enlisted

person, successful entrepreneur, and a stay-at-home mother.

Table 5Quality of Life for Adults Diagnosed With ADHD in Adulthood (N=8)

| Number | Primary Theme |
|--------|---|
| 1 | Lack of focus and distractibility challenged my reading of our |
| | workplace instructions, procedures, and manuals |
| 2 | Impulsivity contributed to me constantly interrupting friends, and my |
| | friends avoided socializing with me |
| 3 | Hyperactivity helped me become a diligent worker, but there was |
| | difficulty getting to work on time |
| 4 | Use of sports as an outlet for hyperactivity improved my physical, |
| | mental, emotional, and social well-being |
| 5 | Experienced successes in a fast-paced logistics-oriented job but no |
| | success in getting desired nuclear missile training job |
| 6 | Worked to become successful entrepreneur but still traumatized |
| | somewhat by childhood trauma stemming from undiagnosed ADHD |
| 7 | Unacceptance of my ADHD by spouse contributed to my marital |
| | disharmony |

Suggestive of Theme 1 (lack of focus and distractibility challenged my reading of our workplace instructions, procedures, and manuals) are statements from a state government worker. The worker had difficulty reading printed material. The reading difficulty was caused by a lack of focus and distractibility. There was an adverse effect on his state government job. The responder said, "yes, I do not read much because it is difficult for me to read. My reading difficulty comes from a lack of focus and distractions. I am good at comprehending information only if I listen to the information. I went to a doctor in search of Adderall to save my state government job. I told the doctor

that I was going to lose my state government position if I could not read my workplace instructions, procedures, and manuals. I informed the doctor I required help to become more focused in my reading and to tune out distractions. The doctor diagnosed me with ADHD."

Adderall is a prescribed medication to treat ADHD and narcolepsy. Adderall helps to balance specific chemicals in the brain that contribute to hyperactivity and impulsivity. The medication enhances a user's ability to pay attention and become focused on an activity such as a reading activity. At the same time, the medication controls impulsive behaviors (Girard-Joyal, et al., 2022).

Theme 2 (impulsivity contributed to me constantly interrupting friends, and my friends avoided socializing with me) is reflected in the interview data and the statements of a hospitality worker. The worker indicated, "I see myself as being impulsive and possessing an outgoing personality, however some friends and colleagues at work do not like to socialize with me. These friends and colleagues often do not want to be in my presence and avoid me when possible. They avoid me because I am a prolific talker with a proclivity to frequently interrupt others. Additionally, I am challenged with processing information when other colleagues are conversing. I am aware I lack focus, and I am impulsive. Often, I feel anxiety in the presence of some of my friends and colleagues."

Suggestive of Theme 3 (hyperactivity helped me become a diligent worker, but there was difficulty getting to work on time), a firefighter said, "I am a diligent worker who goes beyond the call of duty to finish a work task. However, I frequently have trouble getting to work on time. Because of my ADHD, I have a difficult time working as a firefighter on mundane administrative tasks that are not interesting to me. My frequent

lateness and lack of focus on some administrative tasks contribute to tensions with me, my supervisor, and my firefighting colleagues."

Theme 4 (use of sports as an outlet for hyperactivity improves my physical, mental, emotional, and social well-being) was reflected in the interview data, such as the statements of a corporate trainer. The corporate trainer experienced hyperactivity. The responder stated, "I am hyperactive and use sports as an outlet for my hyperactivity. I always played sports in high school and college. Participation in sports is extremely helpful. Even now, I participate in sports connected with my corporate job, church, and community. Active involvement is sports helps my hyperactivity and quality of life physically, mentally, emotionally, and socially."

Theme 5 (experienced successes in a fast-paced logistics-oriented job but no success in getting desired nuclear missile training job) is reflected in the interview data, such as the statements of a high-ranking military enlisted man who was not successful in his quest to gain entry to the nuclear missile training program and successfully worked in a different military program more suitable for his ADHD condition. The military responder reported, "when I was in college, I had challenges with focus but graduated from college. In the military, my test scores and college grades qualified me to enroll in the nuclear missile training program. I failed early in the program because I had problems with the multiple steps in the nuclear power learning process. Likewise, I was unable to comprehend and demonstrate some of the steps. I also have problems following a recipe because of the sequential steps. As a result, in the military I transferred to a logistics-oriented job. I am highly successful in the logistics-oriented job because the job is fast paced and allows me to multitask."

Theme 6 (worked to become successful entrepreneur but still traumatized somewhat by childhood trauma stemming from undiagnosed ADHD) emerged from statements like the statements of a successful entrepreneur. The entrepreneur possessed vivid memories of trauma experienced in his childhood because of a late diagnosis and an unkind understanding of his ADHD by family members and peers. The entrepreneur responded, "I was bullied by family members in my early childhood. My family members poked fun at me. My mom thought I was lazy. Yet, I knew I was smart. I knew my thinking was different than the thinking of other adolescents. Because I was very forgetful, there was severe punishment for me. I used to get in trouble for daydreaming in school. Now, I am a successful business owner."

The final Theme 7 (unacceptance of my ADHD by spouse contributed to my marital disharmony) was echoed in the interview data and reflected in statements of a stay-at-home mother. She had a daughter diagnosed with ADHD. The mother feels her husband's misunderstanding of ADHD negatively impacted the marriage. The mother responded, "I am in the process of getting a divorce. I currently have joint custody of my 10-year-old daughter and an 8-year-old son. My husband is supportive when it comes to children and tries to be supportive with my emotional state. Yet, he never understood my ADHD which caused tensions between us. My daughter has been diagnosed with ADHD, and my husband does not believe that ADHD is a mental disorder."

Answering Research Question 1 With the Findings

In Research Question 1, it was asked, what differences, if any, are there in the quality of life between those diagnosed with ADHD in childhood and those diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood? The analyzed data showed adults diagnosed with ADHD in

childhood struggled with procrastination, disorganization, and forgetfulness in the schools. There were distractibility problems occurring when performing monotonous tasks. Peers demonstrated ignorance about the adults' ADHD, resulting in the ADHD responders experiencing low self-esteem, anxiety, and anger issues. Likewise, the adults diagnosed with ADHD in childhood reported medications stifled creativity in high school courses but prolonged their focus on lesson content.

Conversely, adults diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood reported being challenged reading workplace instructions, procedures, and manuals. Because of their ADHD, some adults constantly interrupted the conversations of friends, and friends avoided socializing with them. There were some adults diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood who were diligent workers but struggled to get to work on time. Sports were used as an outlet for hyperactivity to improve physical, mental, emotional, and social well-being. Some responders were successful entrepreneurs but were still traumatized by childhood trauma stemming from undiagnosed ADHD. Unacceptance of ADHD by loved ones contributed to marital disharmony.

Research Question 2, Category, and Primary Themes

The following are (a) restatement of Research Question 2, (b) category that evolved from data collected with the six interview questions aligned with Research Question 2, and (c) a table of primary themes. Research Question 2 is, what type of childhood experiences affect the outcome of how adults treat ADHD?

Category

Childhood Experiences Contribution to How Adult Treat ADHD

Primary Themes

Six themes emerged in the category, and the themes are presented in Table 6. The six themes represent childhood experiences that affect the outcome of how adults treat ADHD. The themes emerged from the interview data associated with the six interview questions aligned with Research Question 2 and Participants 1-15.

Table 6Childhood Experiences Contribution to How These Adults Treat ADHD (N=15)

| Number | Primary Theme |
|--------|--|
| 1 | ADHD adolescents were my best friends in childhood; therefore, in |
| | adulthood I sought ADHD adults for friendships |
| 2 | My parents working all the time in my childhood contributed to my |
| | loneliness and being an introvert in adulthood |
| 3 | Mother, being supportive during childhood motivated, me to want to |
| | improve myself in adulthood |
| 4 | Positive childhood experiences with ADHD empowered me as an |
| | adult, and now I am self-empowered to improve my adult life |
| 5 | Earlier diagnosis of ADHD in my childhood facilitated me to employ |
| | more learning and behavior management skills as an adult |

Theme 1 (ADHD adolescents were my best friends in childhood; therefore, in adulthood I sought ADHD adults for friendships) is reflected in the interview data. For instance, a participant posited, "many of my close friends in middle school and high school were diagnosed with ADHD. I encouraged them to attain the diagnosis. They became my close friends. We understood each other and respected each other. I do not get along well with others that do not have ADHD. As an adult, I try hard to bond with adults who possess ADHD."

Theme 2 is my parents working all the time in my childhood contributed to my loneliness and being an introvert in adulthood. Theme 2 is suggested in the statements of a participant who replied, "mom and dad divorced when I was 4 years of age. Mom moved away with my brother and me to another town. Mom worked all the time during my childhood. I felt alone and introverted a lot of the times. I still have the same feelings sometimes as an adult."

Theme 3 (mom, being supportive during childhood, motivated me to want to improve myself in adulthood) emerged from the interview data. To illustrate, a responder reported, "my mom and dad were married during my childhood years, and they are still married. My ADHD was not on the radar during my early childhood years. Yet, mom was incredibly supportive of everything I did in my youth. The positive support contributed to me performing well in school. Mom perceived me as just a lazy smart student. I was disorganized and would argue with mom. Mom never saw my arguing as signs of ADHD. She just saw it as something that needed to be improved. Mom was always interested in my schoolwork and drove me to after-school practices for different sports. She was a stay-at-home mom. I got yelled at by mom. My mom thought I was a scatter brain who would not clean his room because he was lazy."

Theme 4 relates to perceptions of being accident prone, and being accident prone has a foundation in some childhood experiences. Suggestive of the theme, a participant reported, "yes, in general, I am accident prone, I have been in five car accidents. I had concussions. In middle school and high school, I was prone to having accidents of a different type probably because of my ADHD."

Theme 5 (positive childhood experiences with ADHD empowered me as an adult,

and now I am self-empowered to improve my adult life) evolved from the interview data. Consistent with Theme 5, a responder stated, "because of positive experiences in my childhood regarding my ADHD, I have great power. I feel self-empowered as an adult to adequately cope with my ADHD. I identified the causes of and solutions to my condition. I am working to reintegrate and realign my behavior management strategies for ADHD. I am writing in my journal. I am reevaluating my purpose for living and the positive direction to proceed to accomplish my goals as an adult. I am attempting to maintain an objective and a realistic view of myself and my future goals."

Theme 6 (earlier diagnosis of ADHD in my childhood facilitated me to employ more learning and behavior management skills for ADHD as an adult) emerged from the interview data. Reflective of the theme, a respondent indicated, "diagnosing my ADHD sooner may have helped me more as an adult. In my childhood years, I internalized messages from peers and family for many years that I was lazy, unorganized, and messy. Peers and family members thought there was something wrong with me. I thought I was a loser because I was forgetful, unorganized, and impulsive. Finding out that I had ADHD and realizing that there were others like me might helped my self-esteem."

Answering Research Question 2 With the Findings

In Research Question 2, it was asked, what type of childhood experiences affect the outcome of how adults treat ADHD? Findings showed ADHD adolescents who were best friends in childhood sought ADHD adults for friendships when they became adults. Parents who worked all the time contributed to the loneliness of ADHD responders and contributed to the ADHD responders becoming introverts in adulthood. There were moms who showed support during the childhood of the ADHD responders. The positive

support motivated the responders to want to improve themselves in adulthood. There were perceptions of being accident prone because of childhood experiences associated with ADHD. Positive childhood experiences existed for some responders. The positive support empowered them as adults to improve their lives. Early diagnosis of ADHD in childhood facilitated responders to employ more learning and behavior management skills as adults.

Research Question 3, Category, and Primary Themes

The following are (a) restatement of Research Question 3, (b) a category that evolved from data collected with the seven interview questions aligned with Research Question 3, and (c) table of themes. Research Question 3 is, how have childhood experiences stemming from ADHD affected life choices in adults?

Category

Childhood ADHD Experiences Influence on Adults' Life Choices

Primary Themes

Findings in Table 7 present six primary themes. These six primary themes represent childhood experiences stemming from how ADHD affected life choices in adults. The themes emerged from four specific interview questions responded to by Participants 1-15.

Table 7Childhood ADHD Experiences Influence on Adults' Life Choices (N=15)

| Number | Primary Theme |
|--------|--|
| 1 | Supportive mother of ADHD in my childhood helped me to live up to |
| | my life's choice of being a successful and a productive adult |
| 2 | ADHD contributed to my life's choice of being extremely outcoming |
| | and a good communicator |
| 3 | ADHD contributed to me being an industrious worker who always |
| | goes beyond what is required on the job |
| 4 | ADHD resulted in me establishing routines to function effectively with |
| | little reliance on meds |
| 5 | Regular use of meds (Adderall) and compensating for my weaknesses |
| | helped me become a successful business owner |
| 6 | I want stability in my future life, found a partner seeking stability, and I |
| | am teaching him to understand my ADHD |

Theme 1 (supportive mother of ADHD in my childhood helped me to live up to my life's choice of being a successful and a productive adult) reflects a young man whose life's goal as a youth was to become a successful and a productive college student. He thought the care, understanding, and support provided by his mom during the young man's formative years helped him achieve his life's goal. In the interview, the young man shared, "my mom and dad were married during my childhood years, and they are still married. My ADHD was not on the radar during my early childhood years. Yet, mom was very supportive of everything I did in my youth. The positive support contributed to me performing well in school. Mom perceived me as just a lazy smart student. I was disorganized and would argue with mom. Mom never saw my arguing as signs of ADHD.

She just saw it as something that needed to be improved. Mom was always interested in my schoolwork and drove me to practice. She was a stay-at-home mom. I got yelled at by mom. My mom thought I was a scatter brain who would not clean his room because he was lazy."

Theme 2 (ADHD contributed to my life's choice of being extremely outcoming and a good communicator) is reflected in the interview data. A responder reported, "because of my ADHD, I am extremely outgoing and the life of the party. I have many friends who perceive me as a natural born performer. My ADHD helps me to easily maintain an enjoyable conversation and become a good communicator. I am even a better communicator now that I am more conscious of not interrupting others when they are conversing with me."

Theme 3 relates to ADHD facilitating responders to become industrious workers who always go beyond what is required on the job. Suggestive of Theme 3, a responder replied, "because of my hyperactivity, ADHD contributed to me becoming an industrious worker who always goes beyond what is required on the job. Professionally, I am good and bad. On interesting jobs, I perform well. On jobs that are not interesting, I perform poorly. Now, I know how to seek jobs that interest me so I can use my energy and creativity to excel."

Theme 4 (ADHD resulted in me establishing routines to function effectively with little reliance on meds) is suggested in the interview data of someone who stopped relying on meds at 16 years of age. The responder posited, "I stopped relying on meds at 16 years of age and function effectively socially and professionally. These were my life's goals. I write everything down so I will not forget essential information, I try to stick to

routines. Frequently, I use post-it-notes and planning calendars. I always exercise and excessively drink coffee and tea. I work full-time and successfully support my family."

Theme 5 [regular use of meds (Adderall) and compensating for weaknesses helped me become a successful business owner] is suggestive of the life's choice of a successful business owner. The business owner responded, "I follow my doctor's directions on when and how to take my prescribed meds. Further, I try to be cognizant of my weaknesses and compensate for the weaknesses. As a business owner, I try to hire employees with skill areas that I am weak in."

Theme 6 (I want stability in my future life, found a partner seeking stability, and I am teaching him to understand my ADHD) centers on getting others who are an integral part of your life to understand ADHD. Illustrating this theme, a participant reported, "I have a partner who is stable with a good paying job. He and I want to go beyond simply being friends. He knows little about ADHD. I am teaching him about ADHD so we will have a good partnership soon."

Answering Research Question 3 With the Findings

In Research Question 3, it was asked, how have childhood experiences, stemming from ADHD, affected life choices in adults? Results showed supportive moms of ADHD responders helped the responders achieve positive life's choices of being successful and productive adults. Some ADHD responders became extremely outcoming and good communicators. ADHD shaped some responders into industrious workers who always go beyond what was required on the jobs. Some ADHD responders established routines to function effectively with little reliance on meds. Other responders had a regime of regular use of meds and compensated for weaknesses by hiring skilled employees. ADHD

responders desired stability in their future and sought partners with the same goals. The responders realized they had to help partners understand ADHD to experience sustained future stability.

Research Question 4, Category, and Primary Themes

The following are (a) restatement of Research Question 4, (b) category that came from data collected with the four interview questions associated with Research Question 4, and (c) table of themes. Research Question 4 is, what factors determine how adults manage ADHD?

Category

Factors Determining How Adults Manage ADHD

Primary Themes

Findings in Table 8 present five themes. The five primary themes represent factors determining how adults manage ADHD.

Table 8Factors Determining How Adults Manage ADHD (N=15)

| Number | Primary Theme |
|--------|---|
| 1 | Early diagnosis |
| 2 | Talking to others with ADHD |
| 3 | Reading about symptoms of ADHD |
| 4 | ADHD life coaches |
| 5 | More modifications in the school/education arena to accommodate |
| | ADHD |

Theme 1 (early diagnosis) was reported as the best way to manage ADHD. A responder stated, "the best factor in determining how to manage ADHD is to receive a

diagnosis early in the childhood years. Once a diagnosis is made, there is time to try different treatments until a treatment plan is identified that will adequately help you cope with the symptoms."

Theme 2 pertains to talking to others with ADHD experiences. Indicating the theme, it was reported, "there are many of my friends, church members, and community members with ADHD. Talking to them informs me of treatments that work and those that do not work for them. Most people with ADHD will gladly share their experiences. Knowledge is power, and the best type of knowledge is firsthand information from those with ADHD and those who are capable of effectively managing the ADHD."

Theme 3 (reading about symptoms and treatments) focuses on taking advantage of the prolific amount of information on the Internet. A responder said, "there are many books that explain the symptoms and treatment for ADHD. However, my best source of information comes from the Internet. I carefully select my key search terms and always discover much important information on alternatives to prescribed meds as well as behavior management strategies. I think the Internet provides me with a plethora of good options to manage my ADHD."

Theme 4 (ADHD life coaches) pertains to online and in-person life coaches. It was reported, "life coaches help ADHD adolescents and adults achieve their full potential. The coaches support life skills through tailored learning experiences. My coach collaborates with me during evening hours. My coach helps me with my stress, distractions, forgetfulness, and guides me on how to follow instructions."

Theme 5 (more modifications in the school/education arena to accommodate ADHD) reflects that more resources and different pedagogical approaches need to exist

in Grades K-12 to support students with ADHD. Aligned with the theme, a responder said, "I wish for the school/education to have more considerations and modifications for people like me. As an example, I asked the teacher if I could walk around the room because I could not sit still. I needed to move around, and the teacher said no. The teacher said you should be able to sit here for 30 minutes without moving. I went to the doctor for the cold virus, and I was diagnosed with ADHD. I would have had fewer challenges in school if my teachers knew how to deal with my ADHD and focused on sharing strategies and resources to help me manage my ADHD. Teachers tended to instruct all students as if all students were the same. Some students needed research-based modifications in curriculum and instruction."

Answering Research Question 4 With the Findings

In Research Question 4, it was asked, what factors determine how adults manage ADHD? Findings from the interview data showed early diagnosis of ADHD and conversations with adolescents and adults with ADHD helped with the management of ADHD. Books may be read on the topic and Internet searches, using good key search terms, conducted to locate symptoms and treatments. Also effective were ADHD life coaches. Last, modifications to Grades k-12 curriculum and pedagogical approaches provided support for adults to manage ADHD. Teachers must be aware there must be modifications of the curriculum and instruction to better accommodate ADHDs.

Chapter 5: Discussion

Introduction

The problem addressed in this research was that many individuals were not diagnosed with ADHD until they were adults. The purpose of this study was to examine the experiences and beliefs of the 15 participants regarding the management of ADHD and the impact that experiences may or may not have regarding the quality of life during adulthood.

Results in Chapter 4 are critiqued and interpreted in Chapter 5. There is a discussion pertinent to meaning, understanding, relevancy, and importance of the findings. Implications are delineated, and there are vital suggestions for special education teachers, regular education teachers, school administrators, and parents of ADHD children. Limitations of the study are important to know for readers who want to use the findings in their work settings. Limitations are shared with readers. Chapter 5 ends with conclusions and reflections.

Critique and Interpretation of Findings

Research Question 1 is, what differences, if any, are there in the quality of life between those diagnosed with ADHD in childhood and those diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood? The analyzed data showed adults diagnosed with ADHD in childhood struggled with procrastination, disorganization, and forgetfulness in the schools. There were distractibility problems occurring when performing monotonous tasks. Peers demonstrated ignorance about the adults' ADHD, resulting in the ADHD responders experiencing low self-esteem, anxiety, and anger issues. Likewise, the adults diagnosed with ADHD in childhood reported medications stifled creativity in high school courses

but prolonged their focus on lesson content.

Similarly, adults diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood reported being challenged reading workplace instructions, procedures, and manuals. Because of their ADHD, some adults constantly interrupted the conversations of friends, and friends avoided socializing with them. There were some adults diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood who were diligent workers but struggled to get to work on time. Sports were used as an outlet for hyperactivity to improve physical, mental, emotional, and social well-being. Some responders were successful entrepreneurs but were still traumatized by childhood trauma stemming from undiagnosed ADHD. Unacceptance of ADHD by loved ones contributed to marital disharmony.

The quality-of-life indicators were different for the two groups (adults diagnosed with ADHD in childhood and adults diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood). Both groups experienced an uphill battle coping with obstacles that detracted from their quality of life and the quality of life of loved ones (Fullen et al., 2020). There were more obstacles to the quality of life for adults diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood than for adults diagnosed with ADHD in childhood. Not only were there more obstacles for this group, but the challenges for them had a more detrimental impact on their quality of life (Pan et al., 2019).

Recent studies (Fullen et al., 2020) have indicated that depression, anxiety, disorganization, forgetfulness, and stress are becoming more prevalent amongst adolescents and young adults. These symptoms negatively influenced the quality of life for ADHD individuals. Additionally, nearly 15% of adolescents in the United States were diagnosed with ADHD (Posner & Polanczk, 2020). To enhance the quality of life for

adolescents and adults, there are pharmaceuticals, homeopathic remedies, and dietary modifications.

Many individuals with a diagnosis of ADHD in childhood continue exhibiting symptoms as adults. For those who do not become diagnosed until they are adults, struggles with executive functioning skills are evident (Dorr & Armstrong, 2019). These struggles deteriorate their work performance. Aligned with the premise of Dorr and Armstrong (2019), Coma-Roselle et al. (2020) posited adults with ADHD might demonstrate impulsivity, forgetfulness, hyperactivity, and disorganization in their jobs. These behaviors often cause tensions with supervisors, conflicts with colleagues, and subtle coercion to seek different employment opportunities. The result is a reduction in quality of life for these adults with ADHD as well as for family members who depend on the income of adults with ADHD in the homes (Coma-Rosellé et al., 2020).

Research Question 2 was, what type of childhood experiences affected the outcomes of how adults treated ADHD? Findings showed ADHD adolescents, who were best friends in childhood, sought ADHD adults for friendships when they became adults. Parents who worked all the time contributed to the loneliness of ADHD responders. The parents contributed to the ADHD responders becoming introverts in adulthood (Harrison et al., 2019). There were mothers who showed support during the childhood of the ADHD responders. The positive support motivated the responders to want to improve themselves in adulthood (Taylor & Antshel, 2021). There were perceptions of being accident prone because of childhood experiences associated with ADHD. Positive childhood experiences existed for some responders that empowered them as adults to improve their lives. Early diagnosis of ADHD in childhood facilitated responders to

employ more learning and behavior management skills as adults.

Findings for Research Question 2 is supported by the literature. Adults with poor childhood experiences, who suffer from ADHD, have been seen to take unnecessary risks, leading to negative outcomes like accidents and car crashes (Romo et al., 2019). Undesirable childhood experiences may lead adults with ADHD to become more impulsive and not take into consideration immediate or long-term consequences. As a result, these adults might over-indulge in behaviors like smoking and drinking alcohol (Sayal et al., 2018). Individuals with undesirable childhood experiences are at risk for mental problems in adulthood including mood disorders, suicide, depression and anxiety, and risk of self-injury (Tarle et al., 2019). Many adults no longer seek treatment for ADHD, and their untreated ADHD may contribute to the adverse effects of low self-esteem, marital problems, and employment challenges (Taylor & Antshel, 2021).

Research Question 3 was, how have childhood experiences, stemming from ADHD, affected life choices in adults? Results showed supportive mothers of ADHD responders helped the responders achieve positive life choices. For instance, some ADHD responders became extremely outcoming and good communicators. ADHD shaped some responders into industrious workers who always go beyond what was required on the jobs (Lambez et al., 2020). Some ADHD responders established routines to function effectively with little reliance on meds. Other responders had a regime of regular use of meds. Some entrepreneur responders compensated for weaknesses by hiring skilled employees. ADHD responders desired stability in their future and sought partners with the same goals. The responders realized they had to help partners understand ADHD to experience sustained future stability.

Results for Research Question 3 are supported by the literature. Lambez et al. (2020) explained that some hyperactive-impulsive adults experienced difficulty taking turns, speaking out of turn, and interrupting others, and staying seated at important formal meetings. There was a proclivity to speak or act before consequences were considered (Lambez et al., 2020).

Other hyperactive-impulsive adults become excellent entrepreneurs because of their creativity, willingness to work long hours, and devotion to success (Morris et al., 2020). These strengths are assets that improve the quality of life for them, their families, and others in society. Similarly, Girard-Joyal and Gauthier (2022) reported these hyperactive-impulsive adults' strengths may include creativity, flexibility, spontaneity, and the ability to become hyper-focused. There existed the strength of spontaneity which may be viewed as impulsivity by some professionals knowledgeable of ADHD symptoms. Impulsivity is a trait helpful to successful businesspersons and entrepreneurs (Girard-Joyal & Gauthier, 2022).

Hyperactivity is a supportive trait when it comes to the devotion and endless hours of running one's own organization (Hatak et al., 2021). Recent studies (Hatak et al., 2021) indicated entrepreneurs possessed ADHD traits that enabled them to embrace their passion for creating which results in success.

Research Question 4 was, what factors determine how adults manage ADHD? Findings from the interview data showed early diagnosis of ADHD and conversations with adolescents and adults with ADHD helped with the management of ADHD. Books may be read on the topic and Internet searches, using good key search terms, conducted to locate symptoms and treatments. Also effective were ADHD life coaches.

Modifications to Grades k-12 curriculum and pedagogical approaches provided support to adults for managing their ADHD. Teachers must be aware there must be modifications of the curriculum and instruction to better accommodate ADHDs (Russell et al., 2019).

The analyzed data for Research Question 4 is supported by the literature. Environmental factors, including low exposure to toxins, such as chemicals, at an early age and in utero may contribute to symptoms of ADHD. In addition, the mother smoking, using drugs, and alcohol while pregnant may also contributed to individuals experiencing ADHD (National Institute of Mental Health, 2020). Symptoms of ADHD appear before the age of 12 and may present themselves as early as age 3 (Riglin et al., 2022). Task avoidance may include crying, leaving their designated area, leaving the classroom, becoming disruptive, or shutting down.

Early intervention is the key to assuring children the help they need to be successful academically and socially (Girard-Joyal & Gauthier, 2022; Hare et al., 2021). Researchers explain that early diagnosis and early treatments are major factors in the management of ADHD in adulthood. During the early years of life, there is much vulnerability caused by anxiety, stress, and depression. Anxiety, stress, and depression escalate as individuals with ADHD become older, causing more difficulty in managing the symptoms of ADHD (Lovett & Harrison, 2021, Russell et al., 2019).

Meaning, Understanding, Relevancy, and Significance

Findings from the study's four research questions added meaning, relevancy, and significance to the two theories that framed the problem statement, purpose statement, and four research questions in the dissertation. The two theories are Bowen Family Systems Theory and Barkley's (2014) ADHD Theory. Results from the dissertation

extended the applicability of the tenets of the two theories to seven individuals who were diagnosed with ADHD in childhood. Additionally, the applicability was extended to the eight individuals who were diagnosed with ADHD in adulthood. Results in the dissertation extended the applicability of the tenets of the two theories to ADHD individuals' families, caregivers, and community members. Both theories provided guidance on how to make the quality of life for ADHD individuals meaningful and significant.

The Bowen Family Systems Theory (Keller & Noone, 2019) is based on the dynamics of the family regarding the personal development of the child diagnosed with ADHD. According to Bowen, the 15 individuals with ADHD in the dissertation can be supported to become significant and relevant adolescents and adults. They will be significant and relevant because they will be understood by others in their environment more completely when in the setting of a community or a family. Community and family give validity and meaning to these individuals and facilitate them to be an integral part of an accepted structure (Fullen et al., 2020). Community and family provide support and guidance for the challenges these individuals will encounter when they progress through life. Community and family help shape the quality-of-life indicators delineated in the findings of the dissertation, as well as help determine positive or negative life's choices (Curtis et al., 2020).

Principles in Barkley's (2014) ADHD theory suggest that ADHD is the lack of an individual's ability to self-regulate. Guidance from the theory plays a part in the route an individual chooses to treat the disorder of ADHD (Goh et al., 2020). Community and

family members may provide support and meaning for ADHD individuals, guided by Barkley's (2014) ADHD theory.

ADHD individuals have more meaning in their lives when guided to use research-based self-regulation activities. Self-regulation activities reduce the ill effects of ADHD behaviors and symptoms emphasized in the dissertation. Examples of these behaviors are procrastination, disorganization, and forgetfulness, self-esteem, anxiety, and anger issues. Simple, yet significant self-regulation strategies that will provide more meaning to the life's choices of ADHD individuals, when applied through the tenets of the theory, include (a) a few minutes in a quiet room away from the chaos, (b) a phone call to a friend, (c) a cup of tea, and (d) view a funny TV show (Ciesielski et al., 2020).

Implications

There are 10 implications in the study from the findings. An implication is the findings in the study will contribute to positive social change in varied ways at the school and district levels as well as the national and international levels. The positive social change relates to enhanced professional development for all stakeholders that will facilitate an improved quality of life for ADHD individuals. An enhanced quality of life is important based on the numerous challenges delineated in the findings in the study that will be encountered by many individuals (e.g., marital challenges, employment difficulties, and socialization challenges).

The second implication pertains to ADHD diagnosed individuals of all ages being more susceptible to experiencing a reduced quality of their personal and professional lives. They experience the reduced quality of their personal and professional lives because of undesirable experiences and the adverse mental, social, and physical effects of

ADHD. Consequently, there is a need for researchers and clinicians to place more emphasis on encouraging research-based approaches to increasing the quality of life in adolescents and young adults. Findings in the dissertation conveyed that during the early years, there is much vulnerability caused by anxiety, stress, and depression. Anxiety, stress, and depression escalate as individuals with ADHD become older, and there was the absence of early interventions and the use of research-based interventions (Lovett & Harrison, 2021).

The third implication is ADHD pertains to more than an American founded disorder. ADHD is a global issue, and the global rate of ADHD worldwide is 5.9% (Smith, 2017). Varying cultural and social norms play a part in the differences in ADHD diagnosis rates in countries outside of the United States (Asherson et al., 2012). Because ADHD is a global concern, it is vital that research of quality-of-life solutions are shared globally. Researchers are invited by the author of this dissertation to extend this study in collaboration with international researchers. There is importance for researchers around the globe to collaborate on ADHD research.

Next, an average of one in seven children in the United States is diagnosed with ADHD (Schwartz, 2016). There are resources available for parents and caregivers regarding various treatments such as pharmaceuticals, homeopathic remedies, and dietary modifications. However, many parents and caregivers either do not have access to this information in its entirety or have difficulty understanding which route to take when treating their children for ADHD (Fridman et al., 2017). Parents and caregivers must be guided to connect with knowledgeable support groups, welcoming support groups, and research-based resources (Leitch et al., 2019). As indicated in the findings of the

dissertations, parents and caregivers require support and resources from the local, state, and federal government agencies. More support is needed for families in low-income communities, families with no knowledge of ADHD, and families that are dysfunctional families.

The fifth implication relates to failed marriages and an increase in the number of divorces. There is a significant rate of difficulties with relationships, self-organization, planning, and mood control documented for adults with ADHD (Nakai et al., 2022). Individuals with ADHD experience impulsivity and disorganization. They experience poor emotional regulation, few positive social interactions, miscommunications, and tensions with peers and family members. Arguments and disagreements escalate leading to failed relationships (Wymbs et al., 2021). Findings from the dissertation conveyed that some spouses do not understand, nor do they accept the fact their partners' or children's ADHD symptoms require diagnosis and treatment. Left untreated, the symptoms will become exacerbated and contribute to significant future challenges for everyone in the home environment.

Next, an implication is children with ADHD who receive no treatment experience low academic achievement and behavior problems (Arnold et al., 2020). There are two types of treatments that should be considered. One type is pharmacologic therapies to include alpha-2 agonists, stimulants, antidepressants, and selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (Lecky et al., 2019). Another type is nonpharmacologic therapies, such as behavioral interventions, psychosocial interventions, learning training, cognitive training therapies, parent behavior training, and biofeedback and neurofeedback (Owens et al., 2018). Other nonpharmacologic treatments involve dietary supplements, vision

training, elimination diets, and chiropractic treatment (Rucklidge et al., 2018). Behavioral therapy is recommended for children between the ages of 4 to 5 years.

Seventh, an implication is stimulants are highly effective in managing the symptoms of ADHD such as hyperactivity, impulsive behavior, and limited attention span. Stimulant therapy can be effective when used by itself or it can be combined with behavioral therapy. Stimulants are a very effective way to improve symptoms over a short span of time. As discovered in the findings of the dissertation, one college student performed well in college by reducing the intake of his stimulant to increase his creativity and taking the stimulant to prolong focus on boring lesson content. Studies showed that 70% to 80% of individuals suffering from ADHD (both children and adults) showed improvements in their symptoms as soon as they started the treatment (Buker et al., 2020).

Eighth, an implication relates to applied behavior management. Applied behavior management is the latest trend in behavior management for children with ADHD and ASD (Pfiffner & DuPaul, 2015). Applied behavior management is conducted in a one-to-one setting and usually involves a therapist working within the child's environment, to observe and redirect behaviors. Applied behavior management strategies satisfied the criteria as evidence-based practices for the management of challenging behaviors in ADHD and ASD in several studies (Fitzpatrick et al., 2016).

Ninth, as indicated in the findings in the dissertation, some segments of society are being unkind to people diagnosed with ADHD. The motivation of these segments of society comes from ignorance of afflictions. Children with ADHD are occasionally bullied and left out of social events like sports. Some children, mainstreamed in regular

education classes, feel as though they are "singled out" when they receive services in the classes. Parents are less likely to have their children treated with medication if the children or parents feel as though there is a stigma involved. Children's self-esteem is negatively influenced with many of them choosing to become introverts (Al-Yagon et al., 2020).

The final implication is adults with ADHD may have difficulty obtaining and/or even keeping steady employment. Findings in the dissertation presented several situations where employment was jeopardized because of forgetfulness, disorganization, and an inability to socialize effectively with colleagues. ADHD can be associated with problematic family relationships and challenges socializing with peers (Klein et al., 2012). Adults suffering from ADHD have been seen to take unnecessary risks, leading to negative outcomes like accidents and car crashes (Romo et al., 2019). Individuals with ADHD are also at risk for behaviors such as gambling, overeating, and video game addiction (Posner & Polanczyk, 2020).

Recommendations for Change and Future Research Inquiry

There are 10 recommendations for change and future inquiry, and the 10 recommendations show alignment with the limitations and findings of the present study. The 10 recommendations are important to facilitate the purpose of the study. The paramount aim for these individuals is to improve their quality of life. A comprehensive understanding of experiences of adults with ADHD may reveal information that positively influences the quality of their lives (Benzing & Schmidt, 2019). Additionally, the recommendations in the dissertation are important to expand the present study and fill

the void in the literature concerning factors to improve the quality of life for individuals with ADHD (Benzing & Schmidt, 2019).

The first recommendation relates to the present study's small sample size.

Participants in the study were 15 adults with ADHD, ages 18 years to 65 years. Sources for recruiting the 15 participants were adult members of CHADD, LinkedIn subscribers, Facebook, and social media. Responders were recruited using purposeful sampling and a recruitment flyer posted online. Future researchers may replicate this study with a larger participant pool. Future researchers might compare their results with the results of the present study to determine differences and similarities in findings. Further, these future researchers should ensure the large sample possess equal or nearly equal representation of ADHD individuals from different geographic regions in the United States. Additionally, for a significant contribution to the literature, participants in the large sample should possess a documented clinical diagnosis that identifies their ADHD dimension.

The second recommendation relates to the study's 10 interview questions being self-report questions. Creswell (2019) reported that sometimes responders do not accurately report their views and opinions. Responders may report what others want to hear. Responders might fear retaliation by peers, employers, or family members for the truthfulness of their responses. Some studies showed a tendency for individuals to rate themselves more positively on self-reports of impairment (Anastopoulos et al., 2021).

Third, the present study did not consider important demographic variables in the recruitment of participants. For instance, there was no consideration for the influence of variables like gender, ethnicity, and varied ADHD dimensions in the findings. Future researchers may explore the influence of the variables on the quality of life of ADHD

individuals. Researchers can explore patterns in the findings for these critical variables or endeavor to control the potential influence of the critical variables. For instance, the differential strength of associations among males and females may be important for further clarifying patterns related to the quality-of-life indicators that emerged from the interview responses in dissertation (Barkley, 2020).

The fourth recommendation pertains to the present study having a phenomenological qualitative approach. There may be benefits in designing studies with different approaches to data collection and data analyis (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). Recommendations are quantitative approaches (i.e., experimental designs) and mixed methods approaches (i.e., concurrent mixed methods design). With these varied approaches, future researchers might gather diverse types of information. Measures associated with the varied approaches might be identified that assess the presence and severity of ADHD symptoms, such as the symptoms discovered in the dissertation. Examples of the symptoms are impulsivity, hyperactivity, forgetfulness, and disorganization. The presence and severity of the symptoms may be correlated to quality of life indicators, types of treatments, and levels of family and peer support. For data collection sources, some suggested sources are records, rating scales, observation instruments, and Likert-scale surveys. All data collection tools should possess a high degree of reliability and validity or be pilot tested and critiqued by experts (Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Fifth, an interesting study is to explore the self-perception/self-esteem of individuals with ADHD, as well as how the individuals perceive actions and reactions of others in their immediate environment to the ADHD symptoms and treatments delineated

in findings from the dissertation. The other stakeholders might be peers, family members, colleagues, and employers.

Next, a worthwhile study can be a longitudinal study. The longitudinal study may be designed to examine quality of the life of ADHD individuals over 3 or more years as well as to examine social/emotional/relational difficulties. The aim of the study would be to provide broader and more reliable information for decision making and policy changes by state and federal government agencies. In one type of longitudinal study, several research questions may be designed to explore attachment styles of adults with ADHD.

A second type of longitudinal research study may be designed to explore how adults experience adjusting to receiving a diagnosis of ADHD over 3 or more years, with and without pharmacological treatments. In this second type of longitudinal study, ADHD adults might benefit greatly if there is a provision to integrate significant others in the post-diagnosis treatment. Existing research (Xue et al., 2019; Vysnianske et al., 2020) advocates the involvement of significant others in post-diagnostic interventions to promote the collaborative management of ADHD and to alleviate the difficulties of ADHD individuals, thus improving quality of life (Barkley, 2020).

Seventh, Anastopoulos et al. (2021) explained that ADHD may be viewed as a continuum of symptoms with varied severities and extensive impacts on adaptive functioning. Aligned with the premise of Anastopoulos et al. (2021), variability of presentation and severity of symptoms may be a worthwhile consideration in future research. There could be a worthwhile consideration because differences in presentation and symptoms might demonstrate different influences on interpersonal interactions and functioning in relationships for ADHD individuals.

Eighth, the present study noted several positive aspects (hyperactivity and impulsivity) of ADHD identified by adults with ADHD (Cibrian et al., 2022). Other studies might continue to investigate how positive reframing of ADHD symptomatology, along with the appropriate treatment, may support ameliorating the shame that can result from a lifetime of persistent challenges that are often invalidated. More qualitative studies (i.e., case, ethnography, and grounded theory studies) are needed to generate rich and thick descriptions of data to gain insight into the subjective experience of individuals with ADHD.

Ninth, Zang (2019) described ADHD as a chronic, lifelong medical condition with a strong neurobiological foundation. Guided by the premise of Zang (2019), more research is needed to investigate the integration of several disciplines to better understand the national and international impact of ADHD. The findings of these research studies may also explore the evidence-base of non-pharmacological treatments for ADHD. The non-pharmacological treatments include expressive art and play therapies as well as mindfulness and meditation-based therapies.

Last, Zablotsky and Alford (2020) contended ADHD was an emotional journey for adults to travel after receiving the diagnosis of ADHD. The concept of an emotional journey conveys the importance of stakeholders to coordinate psychoeducation and post-diagnostic support for ADHD. Therefore, more research is needed on psychoeducation and post-diagnostic support interventions, focusing on educating family members, teachers, and others about ADHD. With the additional education and professional development, these stakeholders might better normalize ADHD experiences and reduce the associated stigmas (Zablotsky & Alford, 2020).

Limitations

Creswell (2019) posited all research studies possess limitations to include the weaknesses in the research design. The selected design in the dissertation (phenomenological qualitative research design) may be a limitation. The design does not support generalizing findings beyond the current research setting to other educational settings (Creswell, 2019). Guided by the design, the researcher confined the study's parameters to 15 ADHD participants and one semi-structured interview instrument.

A limitation is the semi-structured interviews were conducted virtually which is a limitation in the methodology. Another limitation to the methodology is identifying ADHD participants who fit the study's selection criteria (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). Recruitment of ADHD participants was limited by time and the number of potential responders who viewed the online recruitment flyer. A significant limitation was an inability to confirm responders' diagnosis for ADHD.

A limitation may be the distractibility of the 15 participants interviewed in the dissertation. Levkovich and Elyoseph (2021) explained that a challenge of interviewing individuals diagnosed with ADHD was one of the characteristics of the disorder, distractibility. A final limitation relates to the difficulty in collecting comprehensive data regarding childhood memories of the subjects participating in the study. According to Ottenstein and Lischetzke (2019), when interviewees are recalling emotions from their past, their perspectives may often be biased.

Conclusions and Reflections

The purpose of the study was to examine the experiences and beliefs of 15 participants regarding the management of ADHD and the impact that experiences may or

may not have regarding the quality of life during adulthood. The purpose was addressed with the findings from Research Questions 1-4. These results ae expected to make a significant contribution to scholarly literature. Further, the findings will be used to provide professional development to stakeholders in the environment of ADHD individuals. The stakeholders share responsibility for the ADHD individuals' quality of life.

Reflecting on the dissertation process, the study has been a rigorous and satisfying learning experience as a practitioner, a mother, a wife, and a human. The researcher learned countless lessons along the way, and she is elated that her study will contribute to the quality of life of ADHDs. The researcher is also thrilled that the study will enhance the knowledge of learned professionals on how to provide better support and understand the challenges of ADHDs and their families.

ADHD may impair social interactions as well as hinder academic accomplishments and work productivity. Findings in the dissertation suggest stakeholders must be reminded that ADHD individuals respond differently to different therapies.

Results in the dissertation convey ADHD comes with a plethora of challenges that adolescents and adults experience daily. In childhood and in adulthood, these challenges may negatively influence interpersonal interactions and communications with peers, family members, and colleagues. A critical finding in the dissertation, useful to all stakeholders, is for the stakeholders to consider individual differences and individual experiences. The reason is ADHD is not a one-size-fits-all diagnosis. There are differences in presentation and differences in challenges coping with symptoms experienced by everyone with ADHD.

References

- Abd El Baaki, O. M., Abd El Hamid, E. R., Zaki, S. T., Alwakkad, A. S. E. D., Sabry, R. N., & Elsheikh, E. M. (2021). Diet modification impact on ADHD outcome. *Bulletin of the National Research Centre*, *45*(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42269-020-00466-x
- Adikari, S., & Dutta, K. (2020). Identifying fake profiles in LinkedIn. *arXiv* preprint *arXiv*:2006.01381. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2006.01381
- Agarwal, R., Goldenberg, M., Perry, R., & IsHak, W. W. (2012). The quality of life of adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: A systematic review.

 Innovations in Clinical Neuroscience, 9(5-6), 10–21.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3398685/
- Aheran, M. (2022). Florida teachers' knowledge of students with ADHD in K–5 inclusive classroom settings [Doctoral dissertation, Edgewood College]. APA PsycInfo®. https://ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissert ations-theses/florida-teachers-knowledge-students-with-adhd-k-5/docview/2609410854/se-2?accountid=6579
- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 5(2), 9-19.
- Altable, M., s de la Serna, J. M., Srifi-Hasnaoui, A., Cruzado, A., & Sabour, S. L. (2022).

 Pathological Gambling in ADHD: A Review. *Journal of Drug and Alcohol**Research, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.4303/jdar/236165
- Al-Yagon, M., Forte, D., & Avrahami, L. (2020) (n.d.). Executive functions and

- attachment relationships in children with ADHD: Links to externalizing/internalizing problems, social skills, and negative mood regulation. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 24(13), 1876–1890.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054717730608
- American Psychiatric Association (APA). (1968). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (2nd ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association (APA). (1980). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (3rd ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association (APA). (1987). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (3rd ed. revised). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association (APA). (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association (APA). (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed., text rev.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Anastopoulos, A. D., Langberg, J. M., Eddy, L. D., Silvia, P. J., & Labban, J. D. (2021).

 A randomized controlled trial examining CBT for college students with ADHD.

 Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 89(1), 21–33.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000553
- Antshel, K. M. (2018). Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and entrepreneurship. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, *32*(2), 243-265. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2016.0144

- Arnold, L. E., Hodgkins, P., Kahle, J., Madhoo, M., & Kewley, G. (2020). Long-term outcomes of ADHD: academic achievement and performance. *Journal of attention disorders*, 24(1), 73-85. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1087054714566076
- Arns, M., Clark, C. R., Trullinger, M., DeBeus, R., Mack, M., & Aniftos, M. (2020).

 Neurofeedback and attention-deficit/hyperactivity-disorder (ADHD) in children:

 Rating the evidence and proposed guidelines. *Applied psychophysiology and biofeedback*, 45(2), 39-48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10484-020-09455-2
- Asherson, P., Akehurst, R., Kooij, J. J. S., Huss, M., Beusterien, K., Sasané, R., Gholizadeh, S., & Hodgkins, P. (2012). Under Diagnosis of Adult ADHD: Cultural Influences and Societal Burden. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 16(5_suppl), 20S-38S. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054711435360
- Avoli, M. (2010). Herbert H. Jasper and the Basic Mechanisms of the Epilepsies. *Epilepsia*, 51.
- Bailey, J. S., & Burch, M. R. (2017). *Research methods in applied behavior analysis*.

 Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315543369
- Barbaresi, W. J., Colligan, R. C., Weaver, A. L., Voigt, R. G., Killian, J. M., & Katusic, S. K. (2013). Mortality, ADHD, and psychosocial adversity in adults with

- childhood ADHD: A prospective study. *Pediatrics*, *131*(4), 637–644. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-2354
- Barkley, R. A. (2014). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: A handbook for diagnosis and treatment (4th ed.). Guilford Press.
- Barkley, R. A. (2017). Unproven treatments for adult ADHD. In R. A. Barkley, When an adult you love has ADHD: Professional advice for parents, partners, and siblings (pp. 283–291). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/15963-014
- Barkley, R. A. (2020). Taking charge of ADHD: The complete, authoritative guide for parents. The Guilford Press.
- Bayarassou, O., Becheur, I., & Valette-Florence, P. (2020). "Fight or flight": coping responses to brand hate. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBM-08-2019-2519
- Bélanger, S. A., Andrews, D., Gray, C., & Korczak, D. (2018). ADHD in children and youth: Part 1—Etiology, diagnosis, and comorbidity. *Paediatrics & child health*, 23(7), 447-453. https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/pxy109
- Benzing, V., & Schmidt, M. (2019). The effect of exergaming on executive functions in children with ADHD: A randomized clinical trial. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports*, 29(8), 1243-1253.
- Bisset, M., Winter, L., Middeldorp, C. M., Coghill, D., Zendarski, N., Bellgrove, M. A., & Sciberras, E. (2022). Recent attitudes toward ADHD in the broader community:

 A systematic review. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 26(4), 537-548.

 https://doi.org/10.1177%2F10870547211003671

- Brunkhorst-Kanaan, N., Verdenhalven, M., Kittel-Schneider, S., Vainieri, I., Reif, A., & Grimm, O. (2020). The quantified behavioral test—a confirmatory test in the diagnostic process of adult ADHD?. *Frontiers in psychiatry, 11*, 216.
- Buker, N., Salik Sengul, Y., & Ozbek, A. (2020). Physical fitness and dynamic balance in medication naïve Turkish children with ADHD. *Perceptual & Motor Skills*, 127(5), 858–873. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031512520938517
- Bunford, N., Evans, S. W., & Langberg, J. M. (2018). Emotion dysregulation is associated with social impairment among young adolescents with ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 22(1), 66-82. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1087054714527793
- Bussing, R., Mason, D., Garvan, C. W., Gurnani, T., Koro-Ljungberg, M., Noguchi, K.,
 & Albarracin, D. (2016, February 1). Willingness to use ADHD self-management:
 Mixed methods study of perceptions by adolescents and parents. *Journal of Child*and Family Studies, 25(2), 562–573. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-015-0241-4
- Camarata, S., Miller, L. J., & Wallace, M. T. (2020). Evaluating sensory integration/sensory processing treatment: Issues and analysis. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 14, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2020.556660
- Canela, C., Buadze, A., Dube, A., Eich, D., & Liebrenz, M. (2017). Skills and compensation strategies in adult ADHD–A qualitative study. *PloS one*, *12*(9), e0184964.
- Carpentier, P. J., & Levin, F. R. (2017). Pharmacological treatment of ADHD in addicted patients: what does the literature tell us?. *Harvard review of psychiatry*, 25(2), 50. https://doi.org/10.1097/HRP.0000000000000122

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). Parent training in behavior management for ADHD. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/adhd/behaviortherapy.html
- CHADD.org (2017) ADHD Weekly. Retrieved April 3, 2019, from https://chadd.org/weekly-editions/adhd-weekly-2017-05-11/
- Chan, E., Fogler, J. M., & Hammerness, P. G. (2016). Treatment of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder in Adolescents: A Systematic Review. *JAMA*, 315(18), 1997–2008. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.5453
- Cheyette, B., & Cheyette, S. (2018, April 14). The dope on dopamine: How the hottest neurotransmitter relates to ADHD and other conditions. *Psychology Today*. https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/1-2-3-adhd/201804/the-dopedopamine
- Cibrian, F. L., Lakes, K. D., Schuck, S. E., & Hayes, G. R. (2022). The potential for emerging technologies to support self-regulation in children with ADHD: A literature review. *International Journal of Child-Computer Interaction*, 31(2), 100421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcci.2021.100421
- Ciesielski, H. A., Loren, R. E., & Tamm, L. (2020). Behavioral parent training for ADHD reduces situational severity of child noncompliance and related parental stress. *Journal of attention disorders*, 24(5), 758-767. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054719843181
- Colzato, L. S., & Arntz, F. E. (2017). Ritalin. In *Theory-driven approaches to cognitive* enhancement (pp. 71-80). Springer, Cham.
- Coma-Rosellé, T., Blasco-Serrano, A. C., Garrido Laparte, M. Á., & Aguelo Arguis, A.

- (2020). Mediation criteria for interactive serious games aimed at improving learning in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Research and Practice in Technology Enhanced Learning*, *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41039-020-00144-6
- Conrad, P., Singh, I., & Bergey, M. (2018). Reflections on ADHD in a global context. In
 M. Bergey, A. Filipe, P. Conrad, & I. Singh (Eds). Global Perspectives on
 ADHD: Social Dimensions of Diagnosis and Treatment in Sixteen Countries (pp. 376-390).
- Cortese, S., Moreira-Maia, C. R., St. Fleur, D., Morcillo-Peñalver, C., Rohde, L. A., & Faraone, S. V. (2016). Association between ADHD and obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *American journal of psychiatry*, *173*(1), 34-43. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15020266
- Cortese, S., Olazagasti, M. A. R., Klein, R. G., Castellanos, F. X., Proal, E., & Mannuzza, S. (2013, June). Obesity in men with childhood ADHD: A 33-year controlled, prospective, follow-up study. *Pediatrics*, *131*(6), e1731–e1738. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-0540
- Creswell, J. W. (2015) Educational research: planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (5th ed.). Pearson Education, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W. (2019). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (6th ed.). Pearson Education, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (5th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Guetterman, T. C.(2019). Educational research planning, conducting,

- and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (6th ed.). Pearson.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Sage Publications.
- Crichton, S. A. (2011). An inquiry into the nature and origin of mental derangement:

 Comprehending a concise system of the physiology and pathology of the human mind. And a history of passions and their effects (Vol. 2). Nabu Press. (Original work published 1798)
- Cropsey, K. L., Schiavon, S., Hendricks, P. S., Froelich, M., Lentowicz, I., & Fargason, R. (2017). Mixed-amphetamine salts expectancies among college students: Is stimulant induced cognitive enhancement a placebo effect? *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 178, 302-309.
- Curtis, D. F., Heath, C. L., & Hogan, W. J. (2021). Child skills training for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): A randomized controlled trial of structured dyadic behavior therapy (SDBT). *Psychotherapy (Chicago, Ill.)*, 58(1), 68–80. https://doi.org/10.1037/pst0000294
- De Meyer, H., Beckers, T., Tripp, G., & Van De Oord, S. (2019). Reinforcement contingency learning in children with ADHD: Back to the basics of behavior therapy. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 47(12), 1889–1902. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-019-00572-z
- de Vinuesa Fernández, F. G. (2017). The prehistory of ADHD: additives for an untenable diagnosis. *Papeles del Psicólogo*, *38*(2), 107-115. Papeles del Psicólogo / Psychologist Papers, https://doi.org/10.23923/pap.psicol2017.2829
- Doebel, S. (2020). Rethinking executive function and its development. *Perspectives on*

- Psychological Science, 15(4), 942-956. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1745691620904771
- Dorr, M. M. & Armstrong, K. J. (2019). Executive functioning and impairment in emerging adult college students with ADHD symptoms. *Journal of attention disorders*, 23(14), 1759-1765. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054718787883
- Emilsson, M., Gustafsson, P. A., Öhnström, G., & Marteinsdottir, I. (2017). Beliefs regarding medication and side effects influence treatment adherence in adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 26(5), 559–571. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-016-0919-1
- Epstein, J. N., & Loren, R. E. (2013). Changes in the Definition of ADHD in DSM-5:

 Subtle but Important. *Neuropsychiatry*, *3*(5), 455–458.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3955126/
- Fairman, R. T., Vu, M., Haardörfer, R., Windle, M., & Berg, C. J. (2021). Prescription stimulant use among young adult college students: Who uses it, why, and what are the consequences?. *Journal of American college health*, 69(7), 767-774. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2019.1706539
- Faraone, S. V., Biederman, J., Spencer, T., Mick, E., Murray, K., Petty, C., . . . Monuteaux, M. C. (2006). Diagnosing adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: Are late onset and subthreshold diagnoses valid? *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163(10), 1720-1729. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.2006.163.10.1720
- Farrugia, B. (2019). WASP (author a scientific paper): Sampling in qualitative research. *Early human development*, *133*, 69-71.

- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.03.016
- Fatséas, M., Hurmic, H., Serre, F., Debrabant, R., Daulouède, J. P., Denis, C., & Auriacombe, M. (2016). Addiction severity pattern associated with adult and childhood attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in patients with addictions. *Psychiatry Research*, 246, 656-662. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.10.071
- Finders, J. K., McClelland, M. M., Geldhof, G. J., Rothwell, D. W., & Hatfield, B. E. (2021). Explaining achievement gaps in kindergarten and third grade: The role of self-regulation and executive function skills. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 54, 72-85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2020.07.008
- Fitzpatrick, E. H., Srivorakiat, L., Wink, K. L., Pedapati, V. E., & Erickson, A. C. (2016).

 Aggression in autism spectrum disorder: Presentation and treatment options.

 Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment, 12, 1525–1538.

 https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S84585
- Fleischmann, A., & Miller, E. C. (2013). Online narratives by adults with ADHD who were diagnosed in adulthood. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, *36*(1), 47-60. https://doi.org/10.1177/0731948712461448
- Fluegge, K. (2020). Do toxic synergies of underlying etiologies predispose the positive association between traumatic brain injury and ADHD? *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 24(11), 1616. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054716633858
- Fraenkel, J. R., Wallen, N. E., & Hyun, H. H. (2019). *How to design and evaluate* research in education (10th ed.). McGraw-Hill.
- Fridman, M., Banaschewski, T., Sikirica, V., Quintero, J., & Chen, K. S. (2017). Access

- to diagnosis, treatment, and supportive services among pharmacotherapy-treated children/adolescents with ADHD in Europe: Data from the caregiver perspective on pediatric ADHD survey. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, *13*, 947–958. https://dx.doi.org/10.2147%2FNDT.S128752
- Fullen, T., Jones, S.L., Emerson, L.M., & Adamou, M (2020). Psychological Treatments in Adult ADHD: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 42(3), 500-518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-020-09794-8
- Fulton, F. (2015). An instrumental case study of parental awareness and treatment for children with ADHD: A critical social perspective [Doctoral dissertation, Nova Southeastern University].
 - http://marps.library.nova.edu.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/pdf/11474.pdf
- Garcia, C. R., Bau, C. H. D., Silva, K. L., Callegari-Jacques, S. M., Salgado, C. A. I., Fischer, A. G., Victor, M. M., Sousa, N. O., Karam, R. G., Rohde, L. A., Belmonte-de-Abreu, P., & Grevet, E. H. (2012, July). The burdened life of adults with ADHD: Impairment beyond comorbidity. *European Psychiatry*, 27(5), 309–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2010.08.002
- Gazer-Snitovsky, M., Brand-Gothelf, A., Dubnov-Raz, G., Weizman, A., & Gothelf, D. (2019). High familial correlation in methylphenidate response and side effect profile. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *23*(2), 135-139. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054715580844
- Geffen, J., & Forster, K. (2018). Treatment of adult ADHD: a clinical perspective. *Therapeutic advances in psychopharmacology*, 8(1), 25–32.

- https://doi.org/10.1177/2045125317734977
- Gerhand, S., & Saville, C. W. N. (2022). ADHD prevalence in the psychiatric population.

 International journal of psychiatry in clinical practice, 26(2), 165–177.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13651501.2021.1914663
- Ghirardi, L., Pettersson, E., Taylor, M. J., Freitag, C. M., Franke, B., Asherson, P., Larsson, H., & Kuja-Halkola, R. (2019). Genetic and environmental contribution to the overlap between ADHD and ASD trait dimensions in young adults: A twin study. *Psychological Medicine*, 49(10), 1713–1721. https://doi.org/10.1017/S003329171800243X
- Girard-Joyal, O., & Gauthier, B. (2022). Creativity in the Predominantly Inattentive and Combined Presentations of ADHD in Adults. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 26(9), 1187-1198. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F10870547211060547
- Gloss, D., Varma, J. K., Pringsheim, T., & Nuwer, M. R. (2016). Practice advisory: The utility of EEG theta/beta power ratio in ADHD diagnosis: Report of the Guideline Development, Dissemination, and Implementation Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology*, 87(22), 2375-2379. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0000000000003265
- Goh, P. K., Martel, M. M., & Barkley, R. A. (2020). Clarifying ADHD and sluggish cognitive tempo item relations with impairment: A network analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 48(8), 1047-1061. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-020-00655-2
- The Great ADHD Controversy. (2014, January 8). *The Times*. http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1475039699?a

- ccountid=6579
- Gupta, P., Shah, D., Bedi, N., Galagali, P., Dalwai, S., Agrawal, S., ... & Krishnan, G. (2022). Indian Academy of Pediatrics Guidelines on Screen Time and Digital Wellness in Infants, Children and Adolescents. *Indian Pediatrics*, *59*(3), 235-244.
- Hanć, T. (2018). ADHD as a risk factor for obesity. Current state of research. *Psychiatr* pol, 52(2), 309-322. https://doi.org/10.12740/PP/70388
- Hare, M. M., Garcia, A. M., Hart, K. C., & Graziano, P. A. (2021). Intervention response among preschoolers with ADHD: The role of emotion understanding. *Journal of school psychology*, 84, 19-31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2020.11.001
- Harrison, J. R., Soares, D. A., Rudzinski, S., & Johnson, R. (2019). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorders and classroom-based interventions: Evidence-based status, effectiveness, and moderators of effects in single-case design research. *Review of Educational Research*, 89(4), 569-611.
 https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654319857038
- Hatak, I., Chang, M., Harms, R., & Wiklund, J. (2021). ADHD symptoms, entrepreneurial passion, and entrepreneurial performance. *Small business economics*, *57*(4), 1693-1713. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-020-00397-x
- Hellas, A., Ihantola, P., Petersen, A., Ajanovski, V. V., Gutica, M., Hynninen, T., ... & Liao, S. N. (2018, July). Predicting academic performance: a systematic literature review. In *Proceedings companion of the 23rd annual ACM conference on innovation and technology in computer science education* (pp. 175-199).
 https://doi.org/10.1145/3293881.3295783
- Hoseini, B. L., Abbasi, M. A., Moghaddam, H. T., Khademi, G., & Saeidi, M. (2014,

- December). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children: A brief review and literature. *International Journal of Pediatrics*, 2(4-3), Serial No.12. http://ijp.mums.ac.ir/article_3749.html
- Ibrahim, K., & Donyai, P. (2015). Drug holidays from ADHD medication: International experience over the past four decades. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 19(7), 551–568. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054714548035
- Instanes, J. T., Klungsøyr, K., Halmøy, A., Fasmer, O. B., & Haavik, J. (2018). Adult

 ADHD and comorbid somatic disease: a systematic literature review. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 22(3), 203-228.

 https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1087054716669589
- Ivanov, I., Bjork, J. M., Blair, J., & Newcorn, J. (2022). Sensitization-based risk for substance abuse in vulnerable individuals with ADHD: Review and reexamination of evidence. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 104575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2022.104575
- Jangmo, A. (2021). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Educational Outcomes:

 Etiology, Treatment Effects, and Occupational Outcomes. Karolinska Institutet
 (Sweden).
- Johnson, J., & Yang, J.H. (2020). Complementary and Alternative Treatment of ADHD in Adolescents. In A. Schonwald (Ed), ADHD in Adolescents. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-62393-7_5
- Jones, H. (2022, April 8). *4 Types of Adult ADHD Therapy*. VeryWell Health. https://www.verywellhealth.com/adhd-therapy-for-adults-5217992
- Kamimura-Nishimura, K. I., Brinkman, W. B., & Froehlich, T. E. (2019). Strategies for

- improving ADHD medication adherence. Current psychiatry, 18(8), 25.
- Karceski, S. (2016). Diagnosis of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. About attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Neurology*, 87(22), e272-e274.
- Keller, M. N., & Noone, R. J. (Eds.). (2019). *Handbook of Bowen Family Systems Theory and research methods: A systems model for family research*. Routledge.
- Kemper, A. R., Maslow, G. R., Hill, S., Namdari, B., Allen LaPointe, N. M., & Goode,
 A. P. (2018). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: Diagnosis and treatment in children and adolescents. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, U.S.
 Department of Health, and Human Services.
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK487754/table/appa.tu9/
- Kessler, Z. (2013). ADHD According to Zoë: The Real Deal on Relationships, Finding Your Focus, and Finding Your Keys. New Harbinger Publications.
- Kita, K. (2017, July). The Direct/Indirect Association of ADHD/ODD Symptoms with Self-esteem, Self-perception, and Depression in Early Adolescents. *Frontiers in Psychiatry* 8, 137. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00137
- Klein, R. G., Mannuzza, S., Olazagasti, M. A., Roizen, E., Hutchison, J. A., Lashua, E.
 C., & Castellanos, F. X. (2012). Clinical and functional outcome of childhood attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder 33 years later. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 69(12), 1295–1303.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2012.271
- Krauss, A., & Schellenberg, C. (2022). ADHD symptoms and health-related quality of life of adolescents and young adults. *European Journal of Health Psychology*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1027/2512-8442/a000104

- Kvale, S. (2007). *Doing interviews*. SAGE Publications.
- Lambez, B., Harwood-Gross, A., Golumbic, E. Z., & Rassovsky, Y. (2020).
 Nonpharmacological interventions for cognitive difficulties in ADHD: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 120(2), 40-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.10.007
- Leaf, J. B., Cihon, J. H., Ferguson, J. L., Milne, C. M., Leaf, R., & McEachin, J. (2021).

 Advances in our understanding of behavioral intervention: 1980 to 2020 for individuals diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *51*(12), 4395-4410. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04481-9
- Leahy L. G. (2018). Diagnosis and treatment of ADHD in children vs adults: What nurses should know. *Archives of psychiatric nursing*, *32*(6), 890–895. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2018.06.013
- Lebowitz, M. S. (2016). Stigmatization of ADHD: A developmental review. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 20(3), 199–205. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054712475211
- Leckey, Y., McGilloway, S., Hickey, G., Bracken-Scally, M., Kelly, P., & Furlong, M. (2019). A randomised control trial of parent and child training programmes (versus wait list control) for children with ADHD-type behaviours: A pilot study. *Child Care in Practice*, 25(4), 419-438. https://doi.org/10.1080/13575279.2018.1481368
- Leitch, S., Sciberras, E., Post, B., Gerner, B., Rinehart, N., Nicholson, J. M., & Evans, S. (2019). Experience of stress in parents of children with ADHD: A qualitative study. *International journal of qualitative studies on health and well-being*, *14*(1),

- 1690091. https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2019.1690091
- Lenartowicz, A., & Loo, S. K. (2014). Use EEG to diagnose ADHD. Current Psychiatry Reports, 16, Article 498. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-014-0498-0
- Levkovich, I., & Elyoseph, Z. (2021). College students with ADHD and their reasons for becoming teachers despite negative childhood experiences. Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education, 49(4), 387-402. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359866X.2020.1789912
- Lin, Y., Lo, K., Yang, L., & Gau, S. S. (2015). Validation of DSM-5 age-of-onset criterion of attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in adults: Comparison of life quality, functional impairment, and family function. Research in Developmental Disabilities, 47, 48-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2015.07.026
- Lovett, B. J., & Harrison, A. G. (2021). Assessing adult ADHD: New research and perspectives. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 43(4), 333-339. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2021.1950640
- Lynch, A. & Davison, K. (2022). Gendered expectations on the recognition of ADHD in young women and educational implications, Irish Educational Studies, https://doi.org/10.1080/03323315.2022.2032264
- Mannem, N., Mehta, T., Nagarajan, E., Yarasi, N. K., & Bollu, P. C. (2021). ADHD and Its Therapeutics. *Current Developmental Disorders Reports*, 8(3), 175-183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40474-020-00215-9
- Manos, M. J., Giuliano, K., & Geyer, E. (2017). ADHD: Overdiagnosed and overtreated or misdiagnosed and mistreated. *Cleveland Clinic journal of medicine*, 84(11), 873–880. https://doi.org/10.3949/ccjm.84a.15051

- Maremmani, A. G., Gazzarrini, D., Fiorin, A., Cingano, V., Bellio, G., Perugi, G., & Maremmani, I. (2018). Psychopathology of addition: Can the SCL90-based-five-dimensional structure differentiate Heroin Use Disorder from a non-substance-related addictive disorder such as Gambling Disorder? *Annals of general psychiatry*, *17*(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12991-018-0173-7
- Masi, L., Abadie, P., Herba, C., Emond, M., Gingras, M. P., & Amor, L. B. (2021).

 Video games for ADHD and non-ADHD children: Modalities of use and association with ADHD symptoms. *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, *9*, 632272.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2021.632272
- McCue, K. A. (2022). Specificity of deficits in executive functioning in youth with nonverbal learning disability, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and reading disorder [Doctoral dissertation, Illinois Institute of Technology]. APA PsycInfo®. https://ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissert ations-theses/specificity-deficits-executive-functioning-youth/docview/2636172279/se-2?accountid=6579
- McGrath, J. (2020). ADHD and Covid-19: Current roadblocks and future opportunities. *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine*, *37*(3), 204-211. https://doi.org/10.1017/ipm.2020.53
- Merriam, S., & Grenier, R. (2019). *Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and analysis*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). Belief. In *Merriam-Webster.com dictionary*. Retrieved February 20, 2020, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/belief Michielsen, M., de Kruif, J. T. C., Comijs, H. C., Van Mierlo, S., Semeijn, E. J.,

- Beekman, A. T., ... & Kooij, J. S. (2018). The burden of ADHD in older adults: a qualitative study. *Journal of attention disorders*, 22(6), 591-600. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1087054715610001
- Mitchell, A., & Cormack, M. (2019). What is Distinctive about Complementary

 Medicine. In *Perspectives on complementary and alternative medicine* (pp. 100105). Routledge.
- Mohr-Jensen, C., Steen-Jensen, T., Bang-Schnack, M., & Thingvad, H. (2019). What Do Primary and Secondary School Teachers Know About ADHD in Children?
 Findings From a Systematic Review and a Representative, Nationwide Sample of Danish Teachers. *Journal of attention disorders*, 23(3), 206–219.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054715599206
- Morris, S., Sheen, J., Ling, M., Foley, D., & Sciberras, E. (2020). Interventions for adolescents with ADHD to improve peer social functioning: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *3*(1), 11-24.

 108705472090651. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054720906514
- Morsink, S., Sonuga-Barke, E., Mies, G., Glorie, N., Lemiere, J., Van Der Oord, S., & Danckaerts, M. (2017). What motivates individuals with ADHD? Qualitative analysis from the adolescent's point of view. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 26(8), 923–932. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-017-0961-7
- Mowlem, F., Agnew-Blais, J., Taylor, E., & Asherson, P. (2019, February). Do varied factors influence whether girls versus boys meet ADHD diagnostic criteria? Sex differences among children with high ADHD symptoms. *Psychiatry Research*, 272, 765–773. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.psychres.2018.12.128

- Mueller, A. K., Fuermaier, A. B. M., Koerts, J., & Tucha, L. (2012, September). Stigma in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders*, *4*(3), 101–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12402-012-0085-3
- Nakai, T., Tsuji, T., Tsuda, H., Sotodate, T., Namba, Y., Uenishi, T., ... & Tomita, H. (2022). Working Conditions, Work Productivity, Quality of Life, and Depressive Symptoms in Undiagnosed Adults with and without Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) Symptoms During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment, 18, 1561-1572. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S358085
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2020). *Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder*(ADHD): The basics. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/attention-deficit-hyperactivity-disorder-adhd-the-basics/index.shtml
- Ottenstein, C., & Lischetzke, T. (2020). Recall bias in emotional intensity ratings: investigating person-level and event-level predictors. *Motivation and Emotion*, 44(3), 464-473. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-019-09796-4
- Owens, E. B., Hinshaw, S. P., McBurnett, K., & Pfiffner, L. (2018). Predictors of response to behavioral treatments among children with ADHD-inattentive type.

 Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology, 47, S219–S232.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2016.1228461
- Owens, J. (2020). Relationships between an ADHD diagnosis and future school behaviors among children with mild behavioral problems. *Sociology of Education*, 93(3), 191-214. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038040720909296
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K.

- (2015). Purposeful Sampling for Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis in Mixed Method Implementation Research. *Administration and policy in mental health*, 42(5), 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Pan, M. R., Huang, F., Zhao, M. J., Wang, Y. F., Wang, Y. F. & Qian, Q. J. (2019). A comparison of efficacy between cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) and CBT combined with medication in adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Psychiatry Research* 279(1), 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.06.040
- Parker, C., Scott, S., & Geddes, A. (2019). Snowball sampling. SAGE research methods foundations.
- Pfiffner, L. J., & DuPaul, G. J. (2015). Treatment of ADHD in school settings. In R. A. Barkley (Ed.), Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: A handbook for diagnosis and treatment (pp. 596–629). Guilford Press.
- Pfiffner, L. J., & Haack, L. M. (2014). Behavior management for school-aged children with ADHD. *Child and adolescent psychiatric clinics of North America*, 23(4), 731–746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chc.2014.05.014
- Pham, T., Milanaik, R., Kaplan, A., Papaioannou, H., & Adesman, A. (2017). Household diversion of prescription stimulants: Medication misuse by parents of children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology*, 27(8), 741-746. https://doi.org/10.1089/cap.2016.0058
- Posner, J., & Polanczyk, G.V. (2020). Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *The Lancet*, 395(10222), 450-462. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)33004-1
- Prakash, J., Chatterjee, K., Guha, S., Srivastava, K., & Chauhan, V. S. (2021). Adult

- attention-deficit Hyperactivity disorder: From clinical reality toward conceptual clarity. *Industrial psychiatry journal*, *30*(1), 23–28. https://doi.org/10.4103/ipj.ipj_7_21
- Rad, F., Mihailescu, I., Nedelcu, M. C., Buica, A., Stancu, M., Andrei, E., ... & Dobrescu,
 I. (2019). The outcome of a sample of pre-schoolers diagnosed with ASD
 comorbid with ADHD after one year of Applied Behavioural Analysis. *Journal of Evidence-Based Psychotherapies*, 19(2), 109-118.
 https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.24193/jebp.2019.2.16
- Rajeh, A., Amanullah, S., Shivakumar, K., & Cole, J. (2017). Interventions in ADHD: A comparative review of stimulant medications and behavioral therapies. *Asian journal of psychiatry*, 25, 131-135 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2016.09.005
- Rao, M. S. (2022). Innovative Leadership: Tools and Techniques to Acquire Innovative and Inspiring Ideas. In J. Marques (Ed.), *Innovative Leadership in Times of Compelling Changes* (pp. 69-78). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-67258-4_5
- Reeves, J. (2020). *Developing a Survey and Pilot Testing an Instrument* [Webinar].

 Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice. Nova
 Southeastern University.

 https://sharkmedia.nova.edu/media/Developing+a+Survey+and+Pilot+Testing+an
 +Instrument/1_vkmd6slb
- Riglin, L., Blakey, R., Langley, K., Thapar, A. K., Agha, S. S., Davey Smith, G., . . . Thapar, A. (2022). Assessment of age-at-onset criterion for adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 220(2), 73-75.

- https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2021.122
- Rohatgi, R. K., Martijn Bos, J., & Ackerman, M. J. (2015, August). Stimulant therapy in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and concomitant long QT syndrome: A safe combination? *Heart Rhythm*, *12*(8),1807–1812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2015.04.043
- Romo, L., Sweerts, S. J., Ordonneau, P., Blot, E., & Gicquel, L. (2019, July). Road accidents in young adults with ADHD: Which factors can explain the occurrence of injuries in drivers with ADHD and how to prevent it? *Applied Neuropsychology: Adult*, 28(3), 372-377.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2019.1640697
- Roselló, B., Berenguer, C., Baixauli, I., Mira, Á., Martinez-Raga, J., & Miranda, A. (2020). Empirical examination of executive functioning, ADHD associated behaviors, and functional impairments in adults with persistent ADHD, remittent ADHD, and without ADHD. *BMC psychiatry*, 20(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-020-02542-y
- Rucklidge, J. J., Eggleston, M. J. F., Johnstone, J. M., Darling, K., & Frampton, C. M. (2018). Vitamin-mineral treatment improves aggression and emotional regulation in children with ADHD: a fully blinded, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines*, 59(3), 232-246. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12817
- Russell, A. E., Tay, M., Ford, T., Russell, G., & Moore, D. (2019). Educational practitioners' perceptions of ADHD: A qualitative study of views of the home lives of children with ADHD in the UK. *British Journal of Special Education*,

- 46(1), 8-28. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8578.12247
- Sayal, K., Prasad, V., Daley, D., Ford, T., & Coghill, D. (2018). ADHD in children and young people: Prevalence, care pathways, and service provision. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *5*(2), 175–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(17)30167-0
- Schellekens, A. F., van den Brink, W., Kiefer, F., & Goudriaan, A. E. (2020). Often overlooked and ignored, but do not underestimate its relevance: ADHD in addiction–Addiction in ADHD. *European Addiction Research*, 26(4-5), 169-172. https://doi.org/10.1159/000509267
- Schwartz, A. (2016). ADHD nation: Children, doctors, big pharma, and the making of an American epidemic. Scribner.
- Shenoy, D. M., Indla, V., & Reddy, H. (2017, November-December). Comprehensive management of autism: Current evidence. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, *39*(6), 727–731. https://dx.doi.org/10.4103%2FIJPSYM.IJPSYM_272_17
- Shimabukuro, S., Daley, D., Thompson, M., Laver-Bradbury, C., Nakanishi, E., & Tripp, G. (2017). Supporting Japanese mothers of children with ADHD: cultural adaptation of the New Forest Parent Training Programme. *Japanese**Psychological Research, 59(1), 35-48. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpr.12140
- Sibley, M. H., Bickman, L., Coxe, S., Graziano, P. A., & Martin, P. (2020, November).

 Community implementation of MI-enhanced behavior therapy for adolescent

 ADHD: Linking fidelity to effectiveness. *Behavior Therapy*, 52(4), 847-860.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2020.10.007
- Sibley, M. H., Swanson, J. M., Arnold, L. E., Hechtman, L. T., Owens, E. B., Stehli, A.,

- ... & Stern, K. (2017). Defining ADHD symptom persistence in adulthood: optimizing sensitivity and specificity. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry*, 58(6), 655-662. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12620
- Sieluk, J., Palasik, B., dosReis, S., & Doshi, P. (2017, March). ADHD medications and cardiovascular adverse events in children and adolescents: Cross-national comparison of risk communication in drug labeling. *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 26(3), 274–284. https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.4164
- Sjöwall, D., & Thorell, L. B. (2022). Neuropsychological deficits in relation to ADHD symptoms, quality of life, and daily life functioning in young adulthood. *Applied Neuropsychology: Adult*, 29(1), 32-40. https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2019.1704287
- Slobodin, O., & Davidovitch, M. (2019). Gender differences in objective and subjective measures of ADHD among clinic-referred children. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *13*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2019.00441
- Smith, M. (2017). Global ADHD epidemic or not? How different countries have adapted to the global spread of ADHD. *Psychology Today*. https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/short-history-mental-health/201712/global-adhd-epidemic-or-not
- Springstead, M. M. (2017). ANCHORED: A program designed for adolescents with attention Deficit/Hyperactivity disorder [Doctoral dissertation, The Chicago School of Professional Psychology]. APA PsycInfo®.

 https://ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/login?url=https://www-proquest-com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/dissertations-theses/anchored-program-designed-adolescents-with/docview/1905878382/se-2?accountid=6579.

- Stolberg, V. (2017). ADHD Medications: History, Science, and Issues. Retrieved from http://publisher.abc-clio.com/9781610697262
- Storebø, O. J., Pedersen, N., Ramstad, E., Lærke Kielsholm, M., Nielsen, S. S., Krogh, H. B., Moreira-Maia, C. R., Magnusson, F. L., Holmskov, M., Gerner, T., Skoog, M., Rosendal, S., Groth, C., Gillies, D., Rasmussen, K. B., Gauci, D., Zwi, M., Kirubakaran, R., Håkonsen, S. J., . . . Gluud, C. (2018, May). Methylphenidate for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children and adolescents:

 Assessment of adverse events in non-randomised studies. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 5(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd012069.pub2
- Sutinen, J., Fell, D. B., Sander, B., & Kulkarni, M. A. (2022). Comorbid conditions as risk factors for West Nile neuroinvasive disease in Ontario, Canada: a population-based cohort study. *Epidemiology & Infection*, *150*, E103. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268822000887
- Tarle, S. J., Alderson, R. M., Arrington, E. F., & Roberts, D. K. (2019). Emotion regulation and children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: The effect of varying phonological working memory demands. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 2(2), 9-15. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054719864636
- Tatlow-Golden, M., Prihodova, L., Gavin, B., Cullen, W., & Mcnicholas, M. (2016, September). What do general practitioners know about ADHD? Attitudes and knowledge among first-contact gatekeepers: Systematic narrative review. BMC Family Practice, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-016-0516-x
- Taylor, B., Henshall, C., Kenyon, S., Litchfield, I., & Greenfield, S. (2018). Can rapid approaches to qualitative analysis deliver timely, valid findings to clinical

- leaders? A mixed methods study comparing rapid and thematic analysis. BMJ open, 8(10), e019993. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019993
- Taylor, E. (2011). Antecedents of ADHD: A historical account of diagnostic concepts.

 Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders, 3, 69–75.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12402-010-0051-x
- Taylor, L. E., & Antshel, K. M. (2021). Factors associated with parental treatment attitudes and information-seeking behaviors for childhood ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 25(4), 607-617. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054718821734
- Taylor, M. R., Boden, J. M., & Rucklidge, J. J. (2014). The relationship between ADHD symptomatology and self-harm, suicidal ideation, and suicidal behaviours in adults: A pilot study. Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders, 6, 303–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12402-014-0139-9
- Thomas, S., Sciberras, E., Lycett, K., Papadopoulos, N., & Rinehart, N. (2018). Physical functioning, emotional, and behavioral problems in children with ADHD and comorbid ASD: a cross-sectional study. Journal of attention disorders, 22(10), 1002-1007. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054715587096
- Thurik, R., Khedhaouria, A., Torres, O., & Verheul, I., (2016) Retracted: AHDH

 Symptoms and Entrepreneurial Orientation of a Small Firm Owners. *Applied Psychology*, 65(3), 568-586. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12062
- Thygesen, M., Engemann, K., Holst, G. J., Hansen, B., Geels, C., Brandt, J., ... & Dalsgaard, S. (2020). The association between residential green space in childhood and development of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a population-based cohort study. *Environmental health perspectives*, 128(12),

- 127011. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP6729
- van Emmerik-van Oortmerssen, K., van de Glind, G., van den Brink, W., Smit, F., Crunelle, C. L., Swets, M., & Schoevers, R. A. (2012, April). Prevalence of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in substance use disorder patients: A meta-analysis and meta-regression analysis. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 122(1-2), 11-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2011.12.007
- Vitola, E. S., Bau, C. H. D., Salum, G. A., Horta, B. L., Quevedo, L., Barros, F. C., Pinheiro, R. T., Kieling, C., Rohde, L. A., & Grevet, E. H. (2017, March).
 Exploring *DSM-5* ADHD criteria beyond young adulthood: Phenomenology, psychometric properties, and prevalence in a large three-decade birth cohort. *Psychological Medicine*, 47(4), 744-754.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291716002853
- Vysniauske, R., Verburgh, L., Oosterlaan, J., & Molendijk, M. L. (2020). The Effects of Physical Exercise on Functional Outcomes in the Treatment of ADHD: A Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 24(5), 644-654. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054715627489
- Waluk, O. R., Youssef, G. J., & Dowling, N. A. (2016, June). The relationship between problem gambling and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 32(2), 591-604. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-015-9564-8
- Wang, B. Q., Yao, N. Q., Zhou, X., Liu, J., & Lv, Z. T. (2017). The association between attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder and internet addiction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC psychiatry*, *17*(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1408-x

- Wang, C., Li, K., Seo, D.-C., & Gaylord, S. (2020, March). Use of complementary and alternative medicine in children with ADHD: Results from the 2012 and 2017

 National Health Interview Survey. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 49.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2020.102352
- Watters, C., Adamis, D., McNicholas, F., & Gavin, B. (2018). The impact of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in adulthood: a qualitative study. *Irish Journal of psychological medicine*, *35*(3), 173-179. https://doi.org/10.1017/ipm.2017.21
- Wiklund, J., Yu, W., Tucker, R., & Marino, L. D. (2017). ADHD, impulsivity, and entrepreneurship. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *32*(6), 627-656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2017.07.002
- Wolraich, M. L., Chan, E., Froehlich, T., Lynch, R. L., Bax, A., Redwine, S. T.,

 Ihyembe, D., & Hagan, J. F., Jr. (2019, October). ADHD diagnosis and treatment guidelines: A historical perspective. *Pediatrics*, *144*(4), e20191682.

 https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-1682
- Wymbs, B. T., Canu, W. H., Sacchetti, G. M., & Ranson, L. M. (2021). Adult ADHD and romantic relationships: What we know and what we can do to help. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 47(3), 664-681. https://doi.org/10.1111/jmft.12475
- Xue, J., Zhang, Y., & Huang, Y. (2019). A meta-analytic investigation of the impact of mindfulness-based interventions on ADHD symptoms. *Medicine*, 98(23), e15957. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.0000000000015957
- Young, J.L., & Goodman, D.W. (2016). Adult Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Diagnosis, Management, and Treatment in the DSM-5 Era. *The Primary Care*

- Companion for CNS Disorders, 18(6). https://doi.org/10.4088/PCC.16r02000
- Yule, A., Fitzgerald, M., Wilens, T., Wozniak, J., Woodworth, K. Y., Pulli, A., . . . Biederman, J. (2019). Further evidence of the diagnostic utility of the child behavior checklist for identifying pediatric bipolar I disorder. *Scandinavian Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Psychology*, 7(1), 29-36. https://doi.org/10.21307/sjcapp-2019-006
- Zablotsky, B., & Alford, J. M. (2020). Racial and ethnic differences in the prevalence of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder and learning disabilities among U.S. children aged 3-17 years. NCHS Data Brief, no 358. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.
- Zablotsky, B., Bramlett, M. D., & Blumberg, S. J. (2020). The co-occurrence of autism spectrum disorder in children with ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 24(1), 94-103. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054717713638
- Zang, Y. (2019). Impact of physical exercise on children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorders: Evidence through a meta-analysis. *Medicine*, 98(46), e17980. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.000000000017980

Appendix A

Research Protocol

| | D1 | D | D | D |
|-------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|---------------|
| Interview | Research | Research | Research | Research |
| Questions | Question 1: | Question 2: | Question 3: | Question 4. |
| Questions | What | What type of | How have | What factors |
| | differences, if | childhood | childhood | determine |
| | any, are there | experiences | experiences | how an adult |
| | in the quality | affect the | stemming from | manages their |
| | of life between | outcome of | ADHD affected | ADHD? |
| | those | how adults | life choices in | ADIID. |
| | diagnosed with | treat ADHD? | adults? | |
| | ADHD in | ticut i ibiib . | addits. | |
| | childhood and | | | |
| | those | | | |
| | diagnosed with | | | |
| | ADHD in | | | |
| | adulthood? | | | |
| IQ1 | | | | |
| Have you ever | | | | |
| had an adverse | X | | | |
| effect from | | | | |
| medication used | | | | |
| to treat your | | | | |
| ADHD? | | | | |
| IQ2 | | | | |
| Explain your | | | | |
| family support | | X | X | |
| system growing | | | | |
| up? | | | | |
| IQ3 | *** | *** | *** | |
| How has your | X | X | X | |
| ADHD affected | | | | |
| your social life? | | | | |
| IQ4 | | | | |
| How has your | 37 | V | V | |
| ADHD affected | X | X | X | |
| your academic and | | | | |
| professional | | | | |
| life? | | | | |
| IQ5 | | | | |
| Do you | | | | |
| currently feel as | | | | |
| though you are | | | | X |
| managing your | | | | 11 |
| managing your | l | l | | |

| ADHD | | | | |
|---------------------|----|---|---|---|
| effectively? | | | | |
| | | | | |
| IQ6 | | | | |
| How do you | | | X | X |
| currently | | | | |
| manage your | | | | |
| ADHD? | | | | |
| IQ7 | | | | |
| Please explain | X | X | X | |
| your current family | Λ | Λ | Λ | |
| dynamics? | | | | |
| IQ8 | | | | |
| Looking back, | | | | |
| do you think | | | | |
| you | | | | |
| experienced any | X | X | X | X |
| trauma in your | | | | |
| past that could | | | | |
| have an impact | | | | |
| on your current | | | | |
| quality of | | | | |
| living? IQ9 | | | | |
| If you had the | | | | |
| power to | | | | |
| change | X | X | X | X |
| anything in | | | | |
| your past that | | | | |
| was associated | | | | |
| with your | | | | |
| ADHD, what | | | | |
| would it be? | | | | |
| IQ10 | | | | |
| How old were | ** | | | |
| you when you | X | | | |
| were diagnosed | | | | |
| with ADHD? | | | | |

Appendix B

Recruitment Flyer

NOVA SOUTHEASTERN UNIVERSITY Research Study

Attention Deficit
Hyperactivity Disorder:
Lived Experiences of Adults
Diagnosed with ADHD

The purpose of this study is to understand the lived experiences of individuals diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in childhood, as well as the experiences of those not identified until adulthood regarding their attempts to manage the symptoms of ADHD.

A better understanding of experiences of adults with ADHD may yield information that may have an impact on the quality of the lives of those diagnosed with this disorder.

You are eligible for this study if:

- You have been diagnosed with ADHD at any time in your life.
- You are between the ages of 18 and 65 years old.
- You can commit to a 30-minute session held via Zoom to answer 10 interview questions (20 minutes) and review your responses (10 minutes) with the researcher.
- · You can speak English fluently.

This study will be held remotely via ZOOM. Video mode during interview is optional. No compensation will be provided for participation in this study.

Want to know more?

Lead Researcher: Carole Yokell Email: CY158@mynsu.nova.edu Phone: (Text or Call)